## Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Jessica L Coates

Date

# Statistical approaches to understanding between and within host dynamics of infectious disease agent replication

By

Jessica Coates Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

Paul Rota, Ph.D. Advisor

Katharina Koelle, Ph.D. Co-chair

Anice Lowen, Ph.D. Committee Member

Patricia Marsteller, Ph.D. Committee Member

Nic Vega, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Kimberly Jacob Arriola, Ph.D, MPH Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

# Statistical Approaches to Understanding Within Host and Between Host Dynamics of Infectious Agent Replication

By

Jessica Coates BS Spelman College, 2013

Advisor: Paul Rota, PhD

An abstract submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences in Microbiology and Molecular Genetics 2022

# Statistical approaches to understanding between and within host dynamics of infectious disease agent replication

#### By Jessica Coates

Despite the design of highly effective antibiotics and vaccines, infectious diseases still cause a major burden on public health. Infectious diseases account for three of the ten major causes of death in the United States and globally infectious diseases can be attributed to over 17 million deaths per year. Because of an increase in antibiotic resistance and decreased vaccine effectiveness for multiple vaccine preventable diseases, there is a need to better understand the dynamics of infectious disease replication under antibiotic stress and in highly vaccinated populations. To better understand these dynamics, this work aimed to explore two unique cases: (1) the within host dynamics of E. coli replication in the presence of bacteriostatic and bactericidal antibiotics and (2) the between host dynamics of mumps transmission in US populations with a high vaccine coverage. Given the usefulness of statistical approaches to understanding infectious disease dynamics, we utilized data derived from traditional experimental biology to construct a mathematical model describing the birth and death processes of bacteria exposed to antibiotics. This work demonstrated that bactericidal and bacteriostatic antibiotics have differing effects on the growth dynamics of bacteria that can be manipulated to increase the likelihood of bacterial clearance. In a second study, we utilized observational data collected through a systematic review to estimate the effective reproduction number for mumps outbreaks in the United States post the introduction of a two-dose vaccination recommendation. This work highlighted the heterogeneity in transmission dynamics for different populations with similar vaccination coverage and provided foundational evidence about the potential effectiveness of non-pharmaceutical interventions in controlling mumps outbreaks. Together this work adds to the body of work focused on understanding the importance of within and between host dynamics of infectious agent replication. Additionally, the work provides novel insight that may aid in the design of future studies. This is particularly important because as we develop a better understanding of the dynamics of infectious agent replication, it improves our ability to reduce the burden caused by infectious diseases on human health.

## Statistical Approaches to Understanding Within Host and Between Host Dynamics of Infectious Agent Replication

By

Jessica Coates, BS Spelman College, 2013

Advisor: Paul Rota, PhD

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences and Microbiology and Molecular Genetics 2022

### Acknowledgements

Completing this dissertation is due to the magnitude of support I had from multiple different sources throughout my graduate school journey. Without each and everyone of you, I would not have completed this journey and for that I am forever grateful. To the following people, I say thank you...

- My family, who always believed in me and reminded to believe in myself and rely on God for strength in times of hardship. Without your constant support and reminding me of the strength I have within myself, I would've succumbed to imposter syndrome and not completed this journey. Your support and prayers carried me through this journey and gave me the calm to overcome moments of anxiety
- 2. My Spelhouse family and the Spelman faculty, who always gave me a home when my biological family wasn't close by. You all believed in me and my ability to become Dr. Coates before I even realized my potential. You gave me a safe space and a place to call home when I was far from home. You gave me a strong foundation and confidence in my ability as a scientist. For that I will always be thankful and grateful.
- 3. My friends, who have become like family aka "The Money Team". Thank you for your support. Thank you for the practice sessions. Thank you for the late night conversations and thank you for the encouragement. Without you all, I would not have returned to graduate school to finish my dissertation
- 4. My cohort members, who took this journey with me. We started together and we somehow all crossed the finish line. This journey presented many challenges that I am thankful to have faced with you all (i.e., grant writing, immunology, and qualifying exams lol). The advice, the stories, and shared experiences will always remain in my brain, and I cannot think of a better group of scientists to have gone through this journey with. I cannot wait to see all the amazing accomplishments to come out of this group!
- 5. My lab members, who taught me bench skills and supported me when I decided to become a dry bench scientist. Thank you for the many lessons. You taught me how to navigate difficult protocols and how to become an effective scientific communicator. Thank you for being there along the journey in the lab and during the late hours. This work is a result of your hard work, efforts, and support.
- 6. My committee members, who exercised patience with me and extended grace during my training process. You taught me so much about the scientific process and myself. You taught me lessons about microbiology but also lessons on how to be resilient during the growing pains of becoming a scientific investigator. This project came a long way because of your guidance, thank you!

Chapter I. Introduction	9
Introduction	)
	13
The Gaps in Knowledge	15
The Questions	18
Questions on within-host dynamics of infectious disease reproduction	18
Questions on between-host dynamics of infectious disease reproduction	19
Outline of The Thesis and Chapter Summaries	19
References	21
Chapter II: Antibiotic-induced population fluctuations and stochastic clearance of bacteria	24
Abstract	24
Introduction	26
Results	28
Contrasting trends in plating efficiency for bacteriostatic and bactericidal drugs	28
A subsequent plate assay reveals a lack of heritable resistance	30
Bactericidal drugs induce stochastic fluctuations in population dynamics	30
The effects of bactericidal drugs on cell growth and death	32
A simple, stochastic model of the population dynamics accounts for stochastic clearance of bacterial populations	33
A population with large inoculum size is subject to stochastic clearance at sub-MIC drug concentrations	35
Alteration of the extinction probability to facilitate bacterial eradication at sub-MIC drug concentrations	38
Extending the growth-reduction strategy to antibiotic-resistant strains	40
Discussion	41
Materials and methods	46
Bacterial strains and culture	46
Plate assay	47
Antibiotics	47
Time-Lapse microscopy	47
Replicate culture using a microtiter plate	48
· · · ·	

# Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	49
References	49
Chapter III: Mumps transmission in United States in the post-vaccine era: A systematic review .	86
Abstract	86
Introduction	87
Objective and Overview of Systematic Review	89
Methods	89
Search methods for identification of studies	90
Threats to Internal Validity	91
Measures of transmission dynamics	92
Results	93
Narrative Synthesis	96
Narrative Synthesis for studies after the 2006 resurgence	98
Risk of Bias	99
Threats to Internal Validity	99
Estimating how transmission dynamics differ by setting	100
Discussion	101
Conclusions	104
Implications for practice	104
Implications for research	104
Acknowledgements	105
References	105
Chapter IV: Discussion	111
Introduction	111
Summary of Major Findings	112
Recommendations for future studies	113
References	116

# List of Figures

Figure 0-1: Contrasting trends in plating efficiency at increasing concentrations of bacteriostation	: and
bactericidal drugs	60
Figure 0-2 Stochastic population dynamics of bacteria exposed to bactericidal drugs	62
Figure 0-3. Further characterization of stochastic population dynamics.	64
Figure 0-4 Increasing the population-extinction probability by a growth reduction strategy	66
Figure 0-5 - figure 1 supplement 1	68
Figure 0-6 -figure 1 supplement 2	69
Figure 0-7 Figure 1-figure supplement 3	70
Figure 0-8 Figure 1-figure supplement 4	71
Figure 0-9 Figure 2-figure supplement 1	72
Figure 0-10 Figure 2-figure supplement 2	73
Figure 0-11 Figure 2-figure supplement 3	75
Figure 0-12 Figure 2-figure supplement 4	76
Figure 0-13 Figure 2-figure supplement 6	79
Figure 0-14 Figure 4-figure supplement 1	80
Figure 0-15 Figure 4-figure supplement 2	81
Figure 0-16 Figure 4-figure supplement 3	82
Figure 0-17 Figure 4-figure supplement 4	83
Figure 1 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flow	7
diagram of study selection. Outcomes of interest include population size, vaccine coverage, and	1 the
number of mumps cases	94

#### **Authorship Contributions**

I co-first authored the publication in chapter II, which was published in eLife in March of 2018. I contributed by characterizing trends in bacteriostatic and bactericidal drugs through plating efficiency assays and analysis of within-population dynamics. Data from these experiments are featured in Figures 1-4 and the corresponding supplemental figures. I wrote a draft of the methods section for experiments, and I performed revisions with guidance from Minsu Kim. I also participated in the approval of the final draft.

I am the sole author of the research described in chapter III. I contributed to project development, data collection, interpretation, and statistical analysis. I decided on the scope of the project, collected all data, and performed statistical analyses for findings in all figures and tables. I completed all transmission analyses under the guidance of Katia Koelle. I wrote the original draft of all sections of the manuscript and participated in editing and reviewing the final draft with advice from Katia Koelle, Carole Hickman, Anice Lowen, Nic Vega, Pat Marsteller and Paul Rota.

# Chapter I. Introduction

# Jessica Coates

#### Abstract

Infectious diseases (IDs), or diseases caused by the transmission of microorganisms, cause a major burden on public health in the United States. Public health strategies utilizing antibiotics and vaccines can be effective for reducing within-host and between host replication of infectious diseases agents. In the introduction chapter of this dissertation, the author introduces background information on the within-host and between host transmission dynamics of infectious diseases and how public health strategies can be used to reduce transmission. Lastly, the author presents the gaps in knowledge, describes the questions asked in the dissertation, and provides a summary of the remaining research chapters. Introduction

Infectious diseases (IDs), or diseases caused by microorganisms, -- such as bacteria, viruses, fungi, or parasites – are major causes of morbidity and mortality in the United States and globally. In 2020, three out of the ten major causes of death in the United States were the result of infectious diseases<sup>1</sup>. In addition to causing mortality, infectious diseases can be associated with the onset of negative long-term effects, such as, increased risk of cancer<sup>2</sup>, paralysis<sup>3</sup>, and intellectual deficiencies<sup>4</sup>. Lastly, illness due to infectious disease can have major economic impacts as a result of reduced human production, decreased desirability in investment, and the financial costs of healthcare<sup>5</sup>. Due to the high burden associated with infectious diseases, it is essential to understand the dynamics associated with infectious disease agent replication in the United States and to design effective strategies for the control and prevention of infectious diseases.

For infectious diseases to be maintained within a population, two levels of reproduction must occur: (1) within-host and (2) between-host. The infectious disease process begins with withinhost reproduction, or the microorganism of interest (bacteria, virus, or parasite) encountering a host and circumventing the host's immune response to complete a series of replication cycles. As a result, of each replication cycle, the host may experience symptoms and become infectious to other hosts. This process can cause significant damage to the host, sometimes resulting in death. Therefore, to sustain infectious diseases at the population level, there must be a successful act of transmission between an infectious host and a susceptible host, or between-host reproduction. Transmission between two hosts can occur through multiple different mechanisms. Transmission mechanisms include direct (i.e., skin-to-skin contact, kissing, and sexual intercourse), droplet spread (short-range aerosols produced by sneezing, coughing, or talking) and indirect transmission (infectious agent from a reservoir to a host by suspended air particles). Additionally, infectious disease agents can be transmitted via inanimate objects (e.g., unsanitary food, impure water, surfaces) and animate intermediaries (vectors))<sup>6</sup>.

Several public health and medical interventions have been devised to prevent pathogen replication at each level. Within-host and between host replication, can be mitigated, or prevented using social distancing, barrier methods (i.e., condoms and masks), or vaccinations<sup>7</sup>. Once within the host, antimicrobials and vaccine mediated immune responses can be used to prevent entry into the cellular target, reduce pathogen replication, and minimize harm done to the host<sup>8,9</sup>. Overall, these methods have been highly effective as demonstrated by the decreased infectious disease incidence and burden following their introduction. Following the discovery of antibiotics and vaccines, the United States observed a shift from infectious diseases being the major cause of death to chronic diseases – such as heart disease, cancer, and diabetes until the COVID-19 pandemic<sup>10</sup>. Two exemplary examples of the effectiveness of antibiotics and vaccines are the case of penicillin and the measles vaccine. Prior to the implementation of the measles vaccination program in 1963, an estimated 3 to 4 million measles cases happened annually in the United States. Since the vaccination program started, widespread use of the measles vaccines has led to >99% decrease in measles cases compared with the pre-vaccine era<sup>11</sup>. Part of the United States' success in World War II can be attributed to efforts by the United States government to produce and use penicillin for soldiers. During World War II, the use of penicillin reduced soldier mortality from 18% to 1%<sup>12</sup>. However, in the case of some infectious diseases, there has been an observed decrease in the ability of antibiotics and vaccines to prevent or control replication.

The Gaps in Knowledge

For this dissertation, I focused on two cases where effective preventative and control measures have been introduced but infectious disease agent replication persists at the between and within host levels. Specifically, I start with the case of failed antibiotic treatment despite perceived population susceptibility and proceed to discuss the increased incidence of mumps cases in the United States despite a high two-dose vaccine coverage since 1989.

Random (stochastic) processes can affect the course of an epidemic in many ways. For example, at the beginning of an epidemic when the number of initial infected hosts is low if a host randomly dies or experiences a life event that prevents them from being around other susceptible hosts the epidemic may die out before tremendous harm is done to the population. This phenomenon also holds true for the within host dynamics of infectious agent replication. At the beginning of an infection and following treatment with antimicrobials, the agent load is presumably small and vulnerable to stochastic processes that could result in the eradication, or clearance of infection, from the host.

The effect of stochasticity on within host replication can be best depicted utilizing a statistical theory called branching process. Branching process, is a type of mathematical object that can be utilized to conceptualize the process of bacterial replication within a host<sup>13</sup>. In this process, every bacterial cell can undergo binary fission or die at a predetermined time step with some probability. Therefore, the process of going from the initial bacterial load to the final bacterial load can be illustrated by a tree whose root is the first bacterium. On average, the probability of a bacterium undergoing binary fission in this tree might add up to an average probability greater than one. However, chance events might lead to a situation where most cells do not undergo binary fission and ultimately die. In this instance, the infection also will die out preventing the opportunity

for between host transmission. The likelihood of such events happening is greater when the population size is small and chance events have a greater effect.

In an ideal scenario, antibiotics could be used to reduce the bacterial load to a small population size that is highly susceptible to a stochastic breakdown in the branching process, or extinction. However, clinically this is not always observed. Instead, antibiotic treatments have been observed to fail to clear 100% of bacteria during an infection<sup>14</sup>. In this instance, as described later in this dissertation, there is a need to better understand the population dynamics of small bacterial populations exposed to antibiotics.

Since the early 1900s, statistical methods have been used to better understand the between and within host dynamics of infectious agent replication and to design effective strategies for preventing and controlling replication. Between-host models of infectious diseases follow the dynamics of disease spread at the level of the host population by tracking the number of susceptible and infected individuals of different types<sup>15</sup>. Susceptible-Infected-Recovered, or SIR, models are some of the most used models in epidemiology to explore between host dynamics of infectious agent replication. SIR models attempt to compartmentalize individuals within a population based on their disease status where susceptible individuals can become infected <sup>15</sup>. Following infection, individuals can transition to recovered depending on the longevity of immunity. When an infected individual enters the population, it can infect on average  $R_0$  others, who can in turn transmit the infectious disease agent to other susceptible individuals.  $R_0$ , or the basic reproductive number, is the number of newly infected hosts resulting from one already infected host in a population of all susceptible hosts<sup>16</sup>.  $R_0$  can take on a range of values when observed within real epidemics such as in the cases of hyper-endemic malaria in Nigeria ( $R_0 = 80$ ) in the 1970s and HIV in male homosexuals in England and Wales from 1981-1985<sup>17</sup> ( $R_0 = 2$ ). When is  $R_0 \ge 1$ , the population is considered to

16

be in an epidemic state, or an unexpected increase in the number of disease cases in a specific geographical area. Eventually as the infectious agent continues to replicate within a population the number of susceptible hosts decreases. As the pool of susceptible hosts becomes smaller, between host transmission also slows, and the  $R_0$  begins to decrease.

In an ideal scenario, SIR models could be utilized to devise rational vaccination strategies to shift R<sub>0</sub> until the value reaches zero indicating eradication of the disease from the population. Through the use of statistical methods, investigators can estimate the  $p_{crit}$ , or the proportion of the population that needs to be vaccinated to achieve an  $0 \ge R_0 \le 1^{18}$ . However, in the case of some diseases – such as mumps,  $R_0$  never reaches zero and the disease continues to circulate within a vaccinated population. As described later in this dissertation, mumps is a vaccine preventable infection caused by the mumps virus that affects the respiratory system and salivary glands<sup>19</sup>. However, despite the design of an effective vaccine and high vaccine coverage in the United States, cases of mumps continue annually in historically marginalized communities (i.e., Marshall Island and Jewish descendants), universities, and detention centers<sup>20</sup>. In this instance, it is more appropriate to utilize the Re or effective reproduction number, to explore between host dynamics of infectious agent replication. The R<sub>c</sub> is defined as the average number of secondary cases per infectious case in a population made up of both susceptible and non-susceptible hosts<sup>21</sup>. If  $R_e > 1$ , the number of cases will increase similar to when  $R_0 > 1$ . Where  $R_e = 1$ , the disease is endemic, or constantly maintained at a baseline level in a geographic. The Re value, as described later in this dissertation, can be used similarly to the R<sub>0</sub> value to devise effective strategies to control and prevent infectious agent replication in vaccinated populations.

Given the large impact of antibiotic treatment failure and mumps disease on public health, this dissertation sought to utilize statistical methods to understand the within-host and between host dynamics of infectious agent replication. Specifically, this work describes the combined use of experimental biology methods and stochastic models to investigate changes in the population dynamics of a small population of E. coli bacteria once exposed to bactericidal and bacteriostatic antibiotics. Additionally, I present data describing the R<sub>e</sub> value for mumps disease in the United States despite having a high vaccine coverage for a perceived vaccine preventable disease. Finally, work concludes to offer recommendations for the improvement of future studies and the design of strategies to prevent and control the spread of infectious diseases. Herein, I describe the questions asked in this dissertation and provide a summary of the remaining dissertation chapters.

#### The Questions

To evaluate the within-in and between-host dynamics of infectious disease agent reproduction under antibiotic stress and in vaccinated populations, this dissertation attempted to ask the following questions:

Questions on within-host dynamics of infectious disease reproduction

- 1.1.1. How frequently does E. coli reproduction occur in the presence of antibiotics?
- 1.1.2. Is the frequency of E. coli reproduction associated with a previously acquired resistance? If not, what reproduction characteristic (growth rate vs death rate) is correlated with the reproduction frequency?
- 1.1.3. Can the characteristic(s) associated with reproduction frequency be manipulated to decrease the likelihood of reproduction using currently available antibiotics?

Questions on between-host dynamics of infectious disease reproduction

- 1.1.4. What is the mean effective reproduction numbers for mumps outbreaks occurring in the United States?
- 1.1.5. Is there a relationship between setting and the effective reproduction number for mumps?

Outline of The Thesis and Chapter Summaries

In Chapter 2, I present a joint experimental and theoretical study on the dynamics of bacterial reproduction under antibiotic stress. In this investigation, we exposed E. coli K-12 MG1655, a commonly used laboratory strain with no known antibiotic resistance, and mutant strains with increased antibiotic resistance to antibiotics to estimate the frequency of pathogen reproduction. This bacteria strain serves as the ideal model organism because of the availability of information about the genetic background, few genetic manipulations, and the opportunity to investigate antibiotic treatment failure.

In this study, we utilized single-cell microscopy, conventional plating assays, and a stochastic birth-death processes model to evaluate the growth and death rate of E. coli in the presence of bactericidal and bacteriostatic antibiotics. The results of our experiments suggest that: (I) population level survival varies at sub-inhibitory concentrations of bactericidal antibiotics in a concentration dependent manner, (II) survival at sub-inhibitory concentrations of bactericidal antibiotics is not associated with acquired resistance, and (III) probability of population extinction is associated with stochastic fluctuations in death rate. To explore the potential implications of the experimental results for the design and evaluation of antibiotic treatment regimens, we used a Markovian birth-death model to account for the stochastic extinction dynamics. The results of our model suggest that when bactericidal antibiotics are used in combination with bacteriostatic antibiotics at concentrations where the death rate is greater than the growth rate the frequency of population extinction can be increased. This provides a potential alternative antibiotic treatment strategy using currently available antibiotics that would not have been identified using a deterministic approach.

In Chapter 3, I present a systematic review to understand the dynamics of mumps transmission in different settings in the United States following the 2006 resurgence. Mumps outbreaks serve as an excellent model for exploring between-host reproduction under current prevention measures because of the continued outbreaks observed in universities, mass gatherings, detention centers, and close-knit communities despite a high two dose mumps, measles, and rubella (MMR) vaccination coverage.

To assemble the data necessary to estimate the Re value for mumps in the United States, we used a MeSH term search to obtain observational data about mumps outbreaks reported to MedLine as an alternative to collecting experimental data. Due to the lack of a non-human primate experimental model organism for mumps and ethical concerns for performing human challenge studies, this method allows for sample analysis of mumps transmission that would be otherwise difficult. Due to a small dataset, we were unable to estimate the mean Re value for mumps in the United States post the 2006 resurgence. However, we were able to generate point estimates for the Re values that suggest mumps transmission can be reduced by non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs). The results of our analysis suggest that NPIs may be useful in reducing the spread of mumps in combination with vaccination but further studies are necessary to validate that claim.

To conclude the main portion of this study, I briefly summarize the general conclusions of the investigations contained in this dissertation in Chapter 4. I discuss additional questions and lines of inquiry that the studies herein have generated and consider potential future direction.

#### References

- 1. Faststats. Https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/pneumonia.htm (2022).
- Masrour-Roudsari, J. & Ebrahimpour, S. Causal role of infectious agents in cancer: An overview. Caspian J Intern Med 8, 153–158 (2017).
- Solomon, T. & Willison, H. Infectious causes of acute flaccid paralysis. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases 16, 375–381 (2003).
- 4. Durkin, M. Control of infectious causes of childhood disability in developing countries. The Infectious Etiology of Chronic Diseases: Defining the Relationship, Enhancing the Research, and Mitigating the Effects: Workshop Summary (National Academies Press (US), 2004).
- Bloom, D. E., Kuhn, M. & Prettner, K. Modern Infectious Diseases: Macroeconomic Impacts and Policy Responses. Https://www.nber.org/papers/w27757 (2020) doi:10.3386/w27757.
- Principles of Epidemiology | Lesson 1 Section 10.
   Https://www.cdc.gov/csels/dsepd/ss1978/lesson1/section10.html (2021).
- Kim-Farley, R. J. Principles of infectious disease control. Oxford Textbook of Global Public Health 1484–1506 (Oxford University Press).
- Mak, T. W. & Saunders, M. E. Immunity to Pathogens. The Immune Response 641–694 (2006) doi:10.1016/B978-012088451-3.50024-7.

- Boparai, J. K. & Sharma, P. K. Mini Review on Antimicrobial Peptides, Sources, Mechanism and Recent Applications. Protein Pept Lett 27, 4–16 (2020).
- Products Data Briefs Number 355 January 2020.
   Https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db355.htm (2020).
- CDC. Measles Vaccine. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention https://www.cdc.gov/measles/vaccination.html (2020).
- Quinn, R. Rethinking Antibiotic Research and Development: World War II and the Penicillin Collaborative. Am J Public Health 103, 426–434 (2013).
- 13. The Theory of Branching Processes.
- Doern, G. V. & Brecher, S. M. The Clinical Predictive Value (or Lack Thereof) of the Results of In Vitro Antimicrobial Susceptibility Tests. J Clin Microbiol 49, S11–S14 (2011).
- Siettos, C. I. & Russo, L. Mathematical modeling of infectious disease dynamics. Virulence 4, 295–306 (2013).
- Delamater, P. L., Street, E. J., Leslie, T. F., Yang, Y. T. & Jacobsen, K. H. Complexity of the Basic Reproduction Number (R0) - Volume 25, Number 1—January 2019 - Emerging Infectious Diseases journal - CDC. Doi:10.3201/eid2501.171901.
- 17. Evolutionary Parasitology: The Integrated Study of Infections, Immunology, Ecology, and Genetics: 9780199229499: Medicine & Health Science Books @ Amazon.com.
  Https://www.amazon.com/Evolutionary-Parasitology-Integrated-Infections-Immunology/dp/019922949X.
- 18. The SIR Model for Spread of Disease The Differential Equation Model | Mathematical Association of America. Https://www.maa.org/press/periodicals/loci/joma/the-sir-model-forspread-of-disease-the-differential-equation-model.

- Mumps Vaccine Preventable Diseases Surveillance Manual | CDC.
   Https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/surv-manual/chpt09-mumps.html (2022).
- Dayan, G. H. Et al. Recent resurgence of mumps in the United States. N Engl J Med 358, 1580– 1589 (2008).
- Nishiura, H. & Chowell, G. The Effective Reproduction Number as a Prelude to Statistical Estimation of Time-Dependent Epidemic Trends. Mathematical and Statistical Estimation Approaches in Epidemiology 103–121 (2009) doi:10.1007/978-90-481-2313-1\_5.

Chapter II: Antibiotic-induced population fluctuations and stochastic clearance of bacteria

Jessica Coates1†, Bo Ryoung Park2†, Dai Le2, Emrah Simsek2, Waqas Chaudhry2, Minsu Kim1,2,3\*

1Microbiology and Molecular Genetics Graduate Program, Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, Emory University, Atlanta, United States;
2Department of Physics, Emory University, Atlanta, United States; 3Emory Antibiotic Resistance Center, Emory University, Atlanta, United States

† JC and BP contributed equally to this work.

\* For correspondence: minsu.kim@emory.edu

The work of this chapter was published in eLife in 2018.

# Abstract

Effective antibiotic use that minimizes treatment failures remains a challenge. A better understanding of how bacterial populations respond to antibiotics is necessary. Previous studies of large bacterial populations established the deterministic framework of pharmacodynamics. Here, characterizing the dynamics of population extinction, we demonstrated the stochastic nature of eradicating bacteria with antibiotics. Antibiotics known to kill bacteria (bactericidal) induced population fluctuations. Thus, at high antibiotic concentrations, the dynamics of bacterial clearance were heterogeneous. At low concentrations, clearance still occurred with a non-zero probability.

These striking outcomes of population fluctuations were well captured by our probabilistic model. Our model further suggested a strategy to facilitate eradication by increasing extinction probability. We experimentally tested this prediction for antibiotic-susceptible and clinically isolated resistant bacteria. This new knowledge exposes fundamental limits in our ability to predict bacterial eradication. Additionally, it demonstrates the potential of using antibiotic concentrations that were previously deemed inefficacious to eradicate bacteria. Introduction

The frequent failure of antibiotic treatments is a serious public health threat. A recent study projects treatment failures caused by antibiotic resistance will lead to 300 million deaths and a healthcare burden of \$100 trillion by 2050 (O'Neill, 2016). This epidemic is further exacerbated by our inability to reliably eradicate antibiotic-susceptible bacteria. For example, antibiotic treatments of infections caused by antibiotic-susceptible bacteria never achieve a success rate of 100%, often failing to eradicate them unexpectedly (Doern and Brecher, 2011; Weidner et al., 1999; Gopal et al., 1976; Ficnar et al., 1997; Forrest et al., 1993). To design effective treatments and avoid antibiotic failure, there is a strong need to better understand the dynamics of bacterial populations exposed to antibiotics.

Previously, laboratory studies have extensively characterized how large bacterial populations (e.g.,  $\sim 10^8$  cells in a culture) decline under antibiotic treatment, e.g., see (Nielsen et al., 2011; Ferro et al., 2015; Regoes et al., 2004). These studies have led to the current, deterministic model of the pharmacodynamics, that is, the population dynamics of bacteria exposed to antibiotics follows a predetermined course and can be predicted deterministically a priori; see (Regoes et al., 2004; Czock et al., 2009) and references therein. This deterministic framework successfully captures the reproducible dynamics of a large bacterial population declining to a small population under antibiotic treatments. However, due to their experimental detection limits (e.g., >>100 cells [Nielsen et al., 2011; Ferro et al., 2015]), the dynamics of a small population undergoing extinction have not been directly characterized.

Inoculum size as small as a few cells can produce infections (Jones et al., 2006; Haas and Rose, 1994; Jones et al., 2005; Tuttle et al., 1999; DuPont et al., 1989; Hara-Kudo and Takatori, 2011; Kaiser et al., 1992). Thus, if antibiotics manage to reduce a large bacterial population to a very small population but fail to eradicate it, the survivors may replicate and restore infections.

Additionally, these survivors are more likely to develop antibiotic resistance, making subsequent antibiotic treatment of the restored population more difficult (Gullberg et al., 2011; Kohanski et al., 2010; Lopatkin et al., 2016; Dagan et al., 2001; Allen et al., 2014). Thus, in many cases, including life threatening infections or even minor infections in immuno-compromised patients, treatment success depends on complete clearance of the infection-causing bacteria. To effectively clear bacteria using antibiotics, it is critical that we understand not only how a large population of bacteria declines to a small population, but also how a small population eventually goes extinct. Extensive studies focused on the former process (discussed above). The present study focuses on the latter process.

By employing a conventional plate assay, single-cell microscopy, and quantitative modeling, we directly characterized the extinction dynamics of antibiotic-susceptible Escherichia coli populations. We found that antibiotics known to kill bacteria (i.e., bactericidal drugs) induce population fluctuations. At high drug concentrations, all populations go extinct (as expected), but the extinction time is highly variable and cannot be deterministically predicted a priori. Even at low drug concentrations, due to these fluctuations, populations go extinct with a non-zero probability. We found that the Markovian birth-death model quantitatively accounted for the probabilistic occurrence of population extinction. Informed by the model, we then altered the extinction probability by manipulating cell growth and showed that a bacterial population could be eradicated at low drug concentrations that were previously deemed inefficacious. Our work demonstrates that the deterministic knowledge obtained from previous studies of large bacterial populations cannot be extrapolated to population extinction. Our findings also have significant implications for the prediction of treatment outcomes, development of innovative therapies, and assessment of antibiotic efficacy.

#### Results

Contrasting trends in plating efficiency for bacteriostatic and bactericidal drugs

Previous studies of large populations have established the 'minimum inhibitory concentration' (MIC; the lowest concentration of the drug that inhibits population growth) as the most critical parameter for characterizing the dynamics of a bacterial population under antibiotics (Regoes et al., 2004; Czock et al., 2009; Craig, 1998; Falagas et al., 2012). The dynamics of bacterial populations exposed to different concentrations of antibiotics have been examined and modeled deterministically in relation to the MIC, as follows. First, without drugs, the growth rate of cells, l, is higher than the death rate, f (i.e., 1 > f), and thus a bacterial population always grows. When drug concentration increases, if the concentration remains below the MIC (i.e., sub-MIC), growth rate is higher than death rate (1 > f), and thus a population still grows, albeit at slower rates. When the drug concentration increases further and reaches the MIC, growth rate becomes equal to death rate (1 = f), and the population decline. Extrapolating this deterministic knowledge to population extinction, studies often claimed that maintaining drug concentrations above the MIC was absolutely essential to eradicate bacterial populations. As will become evident later, our data challenge this deterministic framework.

As a first step to examine the dynamics of a small population in relation to the MIC, we used a plate assay and characterized how single E. coli cells grew and formed colonies at various antibiotic concentrations. Antibiotic-susceptible, wild-type (WT) E. coli cells were cultured in liquid LB medium without antibiotics and then spread on LB agar plates containing increasing concentrations of antibiotics. After 18 hr of incubation, the number of colony-forming units (NCFU) was determined. By normalizing the NCFU to that for an antibiotic-free plate (N0CFU), we then obtained the plating efficiency (=NCFU/N0CFU), which indicates the fraction of cells forming colonies. Following the definition of MIC as the lowest drug concentration that inhibits population growth, the lowest concentration yielding no visible colonies on the plates was defined as the MIC here. See Figure 1—figure supplement 1 for a detailed illustration of this procedure and Supplementary file 1 for the MIC values for all of the antibiotics examined.

When we performed this plate assay for various antibiotic drugs, we observed two strikingly distinct trends, which depended on whether the drug used was bacteriostatic (which suppresses cell growth) or bactericidal (which induces cell death). For bacteriostatic drugs, at increasing concentrations, the plating efficiency remained nearly constant and abruptly dropped to zero when the drug concentration reached the MIC (Figure 1A); the grey line was obtained from a linear regression analysis of the whole data set below 0.75 MIC (see Figure 1A caption for details). This trend indicates that almost every single cell spread on the plate grew and formed colonies at a wide range of subMIC drug concentration, and no cells formed colonies at (and above) MIC. This observation, suggesting homogeneous population dynamics, agrees with the deterministic prediction discussed above. Additionally, we observed a decrease in colony size at increasing drug concentrations (Figure 1—figure supplement 2).

For bactericidal drugs, at increasing concentrations, the plating efficiency decreased gradually from 1 to 0 (Figure 1B); the grey line was obtained from a linear regression analysis of the whole data set (see Figure 1B caption for details). This trend contrasts with our finding for bacteriostatic drugs (compare the grey lines in Figure 1A and B) and cannot be explained by the deterministic model. In the literature, other studies have reported a similar gradual decrease in the plating efficiency (Liu et al., 2011; Ernst et al., 2002; Dong et al., 2000). However, those studies primarily concerned how to better determine the MIC in the face of such a gradual decrease and have not characterized population dynamics underlying the gradual decrease.

A subsequent plate assay reveals a lack of heritable resistance

The plating efficiency between 0 and 1 indicates heterogeneous colony formation. In the plate assay above, we found that at ~0.6 MIC, the plating efficiency was ~0.5, meaning that approximately 50% of the cells plated formed colonies and 50% did not. One possible explanation is that the colony-forming cells were intrinsically more resistant to the drugs than the cells that did not form colonies, subsequently giving rise to resistant daughter cells (i.e., heritable resistance). To examine this possibility, for each bactericidal drug used in the experiment (for which the results are shown in Figure 1B), we picked colonies from agar plates exhibiting a plating efficiency of ~0.5 (near 0.6 MIC), suspended them in liquid medium, and immediately plated them on fresh agar plates containing various concentrations of the same drug. The results were plotted in Figure 1C and Figure 1— figure supplement 3. Contrary to our expectation, the plating efficiency of the second plating was about the same as that of the first plating, or in some cases, marginally lower (possibly because cells were challenged with drugs twice consecutively). This observation rules out heritable resistance as an explanation for heterogeneous colony formation at sub-MIC drug concentrations.

Bactericidal drugs induce stochastic fluctuations in population dynamics

Our data above showing the absence of heritable resistance in the surviving populations suggest the possible involvement of stochasticity. That is, bactericidal drugs might induce stochastic fluctuations in the bacterial population size. To investigate this possibility, we performed a plate assay as above and followed the population dynamics of growing micro-colonies at single-cell resolution; we spread cells on agar plates, and rather than waiting for 18 hr and counting colonies visible to the naked eye, we examined how isolated single cells grew to form micro-colonies using time-lapse microscopy. First, as a control, we examined the dynamics in the absence of antibiotics (Video 1). We counted the number of growing cells in each colony and plotted the number versus time (Figure 2A). The colonies proliferated homogeneously, meaning that different colonies grew similarly. We then repeated the experiment using a bacteriostatic drug (chloramphenicol, thiolutin, or tetracycline) at a sub-MIC level. Visually inspecting the image sequences, we found that cells stably grew, albeit at lower rates (Video 2). The number of growing cells in each micro-colony increased homogeneously and similarly (Figure 2B and Figure 2—figure supplement 1). Previously, we developed a microfluidic chemostat for cell culture (Kim et al., 2012; Deris et al., 2013). When we repeated these experiments using this device, we again observed the same homogeneous population dynamics (Figure 2—figure supplement 2A).

Next, we characterized population dynamics for a bactericidal drug (cefsulodin, ofloxacin, kanamycin, or 6-APA), at a sub-MIC level. We found that the population dynamics were highly stochastic (Video 3). Visual inspection of such image sequences indicated that within a given population, some cells were killed stochastically, whereas other cells survived and divided. Such demographic stochasticity would lead to random fluctuations in the population size. Indeed, the number of growing cells in each colony fluctuated randomly over time (Figure 2C and Figure 2—figure supplement 3A–C). These fluctuations led to dramatically different dynamics for different colonies, even though they originated from genetically identical cells and were cultured under homogeneous antibiotic conditions. When we repeated these experiments using the microfluidic chemostat, we again observed significant population fluctuations (Figure 2—figure supplement 2B–D).

Importantly, the fluctuations drove some colonies into extinction (the light, red-shaded area in Figure 2C). We counted the number of colonies that went extinct and plotted the probability of colony extinction at various drug concentrations; here, we are interested in colony extinction because it is equivalent to bacterial clearance, which means treatment success. Figure 2—figure supplement 4 showed that the extinction probability increased with increasing drug concentrations. This increase in the extinction probability agrees with the trend of decreasing plating efficiency we found above (Figure 1B).

#### The effects of bactericidal drugs on cell growth and death

A population will undergo extinction if cells die more frequently than divide. Because bactericidal drugs induce cell death, an increase in extinction probability at higher drug concentrations is expected to be due to an increase in the rate of cell death, f. Additionally, bactericidal drugs inflict damage on cells (Belenky et al., 2015; Lobritz et al., 2015). Thus, the rate of cell growth, l, might decrease at higher drug concentrations, which could also contribute to colony extinction. We next sought to determine how bactericidal drugs affect f and l. Previous studies of population growth have shown that at a higher concentration of bactericidal drugs, the 'net growth rate', which is equal to 1 f, decreases (Regoes et al., 2004). But, to separately resolve changes in f and l, the growth and death of cells must be examined at single cell resolution. We analyzed the singlecell-level image sequences we obtained above (see Figure 2—figure supplement 5 for details of the Video 1. The growth of micro-colonies in the absence of a drug. We characterized how cells grew and formed micro-colonies on LB agar using time-lapse microscopy. An example image sequence is shown here. The time interval between each frame is 20 min. analysis) and determined l and f at various concentrations of bactericidal drugs. We found that at increasing drug concentrations, f increased (Figure 2—figure supplement 6A). But l changed little, remaining nearly constant (Figure 2—figure supplement 6B). Therefore, bactericidal drugs have significant effects on cell death, but not on cell growth.

A simple, stochastic model of the population dynamics accounts for stochastic clearance of bacterial populations

Our data above suggest that an increase in the probability of population extinction at higher drug concentrations (Figure 2—figure supplement 4) is likely due to an increase in the rate of cell death (Figure 2—figure supplement 6). To quantitatively understand the relationship between the extinction probability and death rate, we employed a stochastic model, known as the Markovian birth-and-death process, that has been widely used to study the basic features of stochastic population dynamics (Novozhilov et al., 2006; Pavel Krapivsky and Ben-Naim, 2010; Kendall, 1948). This model contains two parameters, the rate of cell growth and death, l and f, respectively. Each individual cell can divide or die stochastically with the probabilities determined by these parameters. Due to this demographic stochasticity, the number of cells within a population, n, fluctuates over time. Thus, n cannot be predicted deterministically but only probabilistically, and the probability is described as follows,

$$P_n = \lambda (n-1) P_{n-1} - (\lambda + \phi) n P_n + \phi (n+1) P_{n+1}$$

where Pn refers to the probability of n cells being present in a population. The key boundary condition in this model is that once n reaches 0, it cannot change afterward. Known as an 'absorbing boundary', this condition reflects the biological reality that once a population goes

extinct, it cannot revive. Therefore, a solution of this model for n = 0 (i.e.,  $P_{n=0}$  or simply  $P_0$ ) describes the dynamics of population extinction. Please see Appendix 1 for the detail and solution.

We first considered the extinction probability  $P_0$  at low drug concentrations in which the death rate is lower than the growth rate (f < l). In this range,  $P_0$  is given by their ratio,  $P_0 = f / l$ ; see Equation A6. Thus, if the death rate is zero (f = 0), the extinction probability  $P_0$  is 0, meaning n always increases (this makes intuitive sense). As the death rate increases (0 < f < I), P<sub>0</sub> increases and becomes non-zero, meaning that n may stochastically reach the absorbing boundary, agreeing with our observation of stochastic population extinction at sub-MIC drug concentrations; Figure 2C shows that some populations reached n = 0 (marked by the light red shaded area), while other populations thrived (also see Figure 2—figure supplement 3A–C). The solution  $P_0 = f / l$  predicts that the extinction probability increases linearly with death rate, with the slope being 1/l (the solid line in Figure 2D). We sought to test this prediction quantitatively by comparing it with experimental data. Above, analyzing time-lapse microscope images, we obtained the probability of population extinction (Figure 2—figure supplement 4), and the death rate (Figure 2—figure supplement 6), at different concentrations of bactericidal drugs. Using these data, we obtained the relationship between the probability of population extinction and the death rate and plotted it in Figure 2D. We found good agreement between the model prediction and experimental data (compare the solid line and symbols in Figure 2D).

Next, using the quantitative relationship we found above (PO = f / I), we will specify the condition for the MIC. In our plate assay (Figure 1B), we observed that the plating efficiency decreases at higher drug concentrations (in the sub-MIC range) and reaches zero at the MIC. Also, the quantitative relationship we found above showed that extinction probability increases at higher drug concentrations (consistent with a decrease in the plating efficiency), reaching one when the

death rate is equal to the growth rate (see the dashed line in Figure 2D); thus, P0 = 1 at f = 1. The extinction probability equal to one (P0 = 1) means that all colonies go extinct, which corresponds to zero plating efficiency. The drug concentration at which the plating efficiency reaches zero is the MIC (Figure 1B). Taken together, at the MIC, the plating efficiency is zero because extinction probability is one (P0 = 1), and the extinction probability is one because the growth rate and death rate are equal (f = 1). In short, f = 1 at the MIC.

Next, we considered drug concentrations above the MIC, where the death rate is higher than the growth rate (f > I). In this range, the model predicts that all populations eventually go extinct (P0 = 1 in Equation A6); this makes intuitive sense. Importantly, due to population fluctuations, populations are expected to go extinct at various times (Equation A5), meaning that the number of live populations (the populations that have not undergone extinction yet) decreases gradually over time. The model predicts that this decrease can be approximated by an exponential decay in the long time limit (t 1=jf lj); see Equation A7. We tested these model predictions by repeating timelapse microscope experiments at drug concentrations above the MIC. All the populations indeed went extinct at various times (Figure 3A and Figure 2—figure supplement 3D–F). When we counted the number of live colonies, this number decreased gradually over time (Figure 3B). In this semi-log plot, the decrease was linear (compare it with the dashed line), consistent with the model prediction of an exponential decay (Equation A7).

A population with large inoculum size is subject to stochastic clearance at sub-MIC drug concentrations

Our findings above indicate that the simple stochastic model can adequately capture the extinction dynamics of populations exposed to bactericidal drugs. What is striking in our findings is that, due to drug-induced population fluctuations, a bacterial population may undergo extinction

even at subMIC concentrations, the concentrations that were previously deemed inefficacious to clear bacteria. We have established this result by examining the dynamics of colonies originated from single bacterial cells, the smallest possible inoculum size. Clinical studies have characterized the bacterial inoculum size that can produce infections (i.e., infectious dose). The infectious dose can be as low as one (Jones et al., 2006; Haas and Rose, 1994; Jones et al., 2005), but is generally 10–100 (Tuttle et al., 1999; DuPont et al., 1989; Hara-Kudo and Takatori, 2011; Kaiser et al., 1992) or larger (Kothary and BABU, 2001; Gama et al., 2012). It is expected that, with larger inoculum size, a population experiences less fluctuations (because demographic stochasticity gets averaged out). When we estimated the magnitudes of fluctuations by the coefficient of variation (CV), that is, the standard deviation divided by the mean, using our model, Equation A16 shows decreasing CV with increasing inoculum size, supporting the expectation above. Interestingly, Equation A16 also predicted that the magnitude of population fluctuations depends on rates of cell growth and death as well (Equation A16); CV increases as the death rate approaches the growth rate, meaning that population fluctuations become intensified when neither growth nor death is a dominant event. This prediction, together with our finding above that the death rate approaches the growth rate as the drug concentration increases to the MIC (Figure 2D), suggests that near the MIC, a population with relatively large inoculum size may still be prone to stochastic extinction.

To test this possibility, we experimentally characterized stochastic clearance of a bacterial population starting with different inoculum sizes. First, we prepared a large volume of a cell culture with the cell density of ~640 cells/ 200 mL, supplemented the culture with a low concentration of cefsulodin (23 mg/ml), and then distributed 200 mL of the cell culture equally to 12 isolated chambers in a microtiter plate. Here, an isolated cell culture in each chamber represents a separate population. We repeated this procedure using higher cefsulodin concentrations (but maintaining the
inoculum size). We then incubated the microtiter plate overnight. We found that, at low cefsulodin concentrations (to the left of the dashed line in Figure 3C), all chambers became turbid, meaning all populations grew. Thus, the probability of population extinction was zero (PO = 0). In Figure 3C, we used a heat map to graphically represent the probability (we also added the values of the probability in the graph for additional clarification). At high concentrations (to the right of the solid line), all chambers were clear (PO = 1); thus, the solid line indicates the MIC. At intermediate concentrations (between the dashed and solid lines), we observed heterogeneous population growth; some chambers were clear while others were turbid (0 < PO < 1). Subsequent plating of the clear cultures on drug-free LB agar plates yielded no colonies, indicating population extinction.

We then repeated this experiment by using different inoculum sizes and bactericidal drugs. The results were plotted as heat maps in Figure 3D; here, the Y axis represents different inoculum sizes. As above, a solid line represents the MIC, above which all chambers were clear (P0 = 1). MIC values were higher at higher cell densities. We note that the higher MIC at higher cell density (inoculum effect) has been observed previously and is being actively studied by others in the field (Artemova et al., 2015; Brook, 1989; Tan et al., 2012; Karslake et al., 2016). Thus, it is not the focus of our study; rather, we focus on stochastic clearance below the MIC. As above, a dashed line represents the concentrations below which all chambers were turbid (P0 = 0). The area between the dashed and solid lines indicates the range of drug concentrations and inoculum sizes that exhibited heterogeneous population growth (0 < P0 < 1), meaning stochastic clearance. Figure 3D shows that stochastic clearance occurs even for a population starting with as large as ~20,000 cells, inoculum size much larger than infectious doses for many infectious diseases.

Alteration of the extinction probability to facilitate bacterial eradication at sub-MIC drug concentrations

Previously, antibiotic treatment at sub-MIC levels was not considered a viable option for bacterial eradication, because the deterministic model predicts that all bacterial populations should grow at sub-MIC levels (i.e., antibiotic treatment failure). However, our experimental results and stochastic model above indicate that at sub-MIC levels of bactericidal drugs, a population might undergo extinction stochastically. An increase in this probability while keeping the drug concentration low would be therapeutically useful; with an increased probability of extinction, sub-MIC ranges of drugs could be used to eradicate bacteria reliably. We therefore employed our model to explore how the extinction probability can be altered by means other than changing the bactericidal drug concentration.

Our model indicates that the extinction probability is determined by the ratio of the death and growth rates (PO = f/l; Equation A6). Thus, based on the model, a reduction in growth rate (denominator) should lead to an increase in the extinction probability. Growth rate can be reduced by using poor growth media, or alternatively using bacteriostatic drugs. This means, for a sub-MIC concentration of a bactericidal drug (for which the extinction probability is less than 1), either a switch to poor growth media or addition of a sub-MIC level of a bacteriostatic drug would lead to an increase in the extinction probability. We note that the latter represents combination therapies, and other studies have characterized bacterial responses to combination therapies (Bollenbach, 2015). However, these studies primarily concerned deterministic changes in the MIC of a large population. Conversely, our study focuses on how combination therapies affect stochastic occurrence of population extinction. Another difference is our focus on sub-MIC drug ranges, an important point given previous research showing that the effects of drug combinations at the MIC might differ from those at sub-MIC levels (Ocampo et al., 2014).

To characterize the extinction probability, we introduced the plating inefficiency (= 1 – plating efficiency); the plating efficiency reflects the probability that a bacterial cell forms a population of a bacterial colony, and therefore, the plating inefficiency reflects the probability of population extinction. We first calculated the plating inefficiency using the plate assay results in Figure 1B and plotted it as white columns in Figure 4A; thus, white columns represent the extinction probability in rich growth media (LB) with bactericidal drugs alone. To test the effect of our growth reduction strategy, we repeated the plate assay, either by replacing LB with casamino acids (a poor nutrient source that leads to slower growth than LB; see Figure 4—figure supplement 1), or by adding a sub-MIC concentration of chloramphenicol or tetracycline. The plating inefficiency obtained with these treatments was plotted as solid columns in Figure 4A. The rise of solid columns above white columns indicates that growth reduction indeed led to an increase in the extinction probability, in agreement with our prediction.

We next examined how generally such an increase in the extinction probability might occur. The extinction probability depends on the growth rate (1) and death rate (f), which we assumed to be independent. Because the probability is equal to their ratio (f/l; Equation A6), this growth reduction strategy might not work when f is not independent but decreases in response to a decrease in l. Such coupling between f and l could occur for bactericidal drugs that kill only growing cells, possibly because these drugs target processes critical for cell growth. This means that, for bactericidal drugs that exhibit a killing rate of zero for non-growing cells (i.e., ffi 0 when lfi 0), neither the switch to poor growth medium nor addition of bacteriostatic drugs would increase the extinction probability. To test this possibility, we first identified such bactericidal drugs; we stopped cell growth in cultures

by depriving the cells of nutrients, added bactericidal drugs at concentrations capable of eradicating growing cells, and then determined which drugs were no longer capable of killing the bacteria. As shown in Figure 4—figure supplement 2, killing was completely abolished for kanamycin and 6-APA, indicating that ffi 0 when lfi 0. As expected, for these drugs, neither the switch to poor growth medium nor addition of bacteriostatic drugs resulted in an increase in the extinction probability (Figure 4—figure supplement 3).

Furthermore, our model does not consider specific drug-drug interactions. For example, a previous study showed bacteriostatic translation-inhibiting drugs and bactericidal quinolone drugs affect gene expression in a way to negate their effects (Bollenbach et al., 2009). Consistent with this study, we failed to observe significant changes in the extinction probability when ofloxacin or ciprofloxacin (quinolone drugs) is used with and without bacteriostatic translation-inhibiting drugs (Figure 4—figure supplement 4).

### Extending the growth-reduction strategy to antibiotic-resistant strains

Above, we tested the growth reduction strategy for a WT (antibiotic-susceptible) E. coli strain. Although the strategy did not work for some drugs due to their complex effects on cells, for those that worked, the strategy substantially increased the chance of bacterial clearance at sub-MIC drug concentrations. We wondered if this strategy could be applicable to antibiotic-resistant strains. Resistant strains are difficult to eradicate because their MICs are very high, to levels that are toxic to hosts. Therefore, the development of therapies that utilize sub-MIC doses would be highly useful. To test if our growth-reduction strategy would work for antibiotic-resistant bacteria, we repeated a plate assay using resistant strains. Laboratory evolution of rifampicin resistance has been frequently reported in the literature (Goldstein, 2014). By plating WT (antibiotic-susceptible) E. coli cells on a LB agar plate containing the rifampicin concentration equal to 2x MIC, we isolated a rifampicin resistant (Rifr) mutant; the MIC of this mutant was ~10 fold higher than that of the parent strain. We then plated the mutant on LB agar plates containing various rifampicin concentrations. Additionally, we acquired clinically isolated E. coli strains that were resistant to either cefsulodin or vancomycin (see Methods), and plated them on LB agar plates with increasing concentrations of cefsulodin or vancomycin. These resistant strains exhibited non-zero plating inefficiency at sub-MIC concentrations of bactericidal drugs (white columns in Figure 4B), indicating stochastic clearance. We then repeated the experiments either by replacing LB with casamino acids or by adding a sub-MIC concentration of a bacteriostatic drug. As with the antibiotic-susceptible strain, these treatments led to an increase in the plating inefficiency (Figure 4B), indicating that our growth reduction strategy facilitated the clearance of antibiotic-resistant bacteria at sub-MIC concentrations.

### Discussion

Antibiotic treatment typically targets mature infection which contains a large number of bacterial cells (e.g., 10<sup>8</sup>) (Smith and Wood, 1956; Palaci et al., 2007; Feldman, 1976; Canetti, 1965; Canetti, 1956). To clear infections and avoid post-treatment relapse, not only the reduction of a large population of bacteria to a small population, but also the complete extinction of the small population is desired (Tomita et al., 2002; Wilson et al., 2013; Bayston et al., 2007); this is especially so for immuno-compromised hosts and also for infections involving bacteria with a low infectious dose. Previous studies of large bacterial populations adequately accounted for the former process. This study focused on the latter process. Our results directly revealed that antibiotics induce significant fluctuations in population size, leading to stochastic population extinction. Modeling population fluctuations using a probabilistic model, we then established a quantitative understanding

of stochastic extinction. This model further predicted how the extinction probability could be manipulated to facilitate bacterial eradication at sub-MIC drug concentrations. We experimentally tested how amenable the extinction probability is to manipulation.

One possible molecular-level mechanism that gives rise to population fluctuations could be cell-to-cell variability in gene expression. Previous studies showed that variation in expression of antibiotic-resistance genes, marA, cat, kagG, ompC, or bla, results in variation in antibiotic susceptibility to carbenicillin, chloramphenicol, isoniazid, kanamycin or ceftriaxone, respectively (Deris et al., 2013; El Meouche et al., 2016; Wakamoto et al., 2013; Sanchez-Romero and Casadesus, 2014; Wang et al., 2014). Although our study mostly focuses on antibiotic-susceptible bacteria, a similar mechanism might play a role, leading to heterogeneous growth/death of bacterial cells and eventually population fluctuations. We note that there were attempts to stochastically model large populations of antibiotic-susceptible bacteria (e.g., see [Ferrante et al., 2005]). But, given the deterministic nature of observed dynamics, the need for stochastic models was not clear, and the model prediction of stochasticity was not tested in the work. On the other hand, previous theoretical studies of the evolution of antibiotic resistance typically modeled the growth and death of newly emerged mutants as stochastic processes, showing how fluctuations in the size of small mutant populations affect evolutionary dynamics; e.g., see (Hermsen et al., 2012; Nissen-Meyer, 1966). Our study validates this modeling approach.

Our findings expose fundamental limits in our predictive ability for bacterial clearance. Clinical studies of antibiotic therapies have often reported unexpected failures of eradicating antibiotic-susceptible bacteria (Doern and Brecher, 2011; Weidner et al., 1999; Gopal et al., 1976; Ficnar et al., 1997; Forrest et al., 1993). Laboratory studies of simple model organisms such as worms have reported similar observations (Moy et al., 2006; Needham et al., 2004; Kaito et al., 2002). The variability in host environments could certainly contribute to such unexpected antibiotic failures. For example, a recent study showed the effects of variability in host immunity on infection course (Duneau et al., 2017). Our study demonstrates that even in the absence of host variability, bacterial clearance occurs stochastically due to antibiotic-induced population fluctuations. At subMIC drug concentrations, bacterial populations may or may not go extinct. At drug concentrations above the MIC, all populations eventually go extinct, but not all at once. Rather, the extinction time is highly variable, meaning that in some cases, it can take significantly longer to eradicate bacteria. This inherent stochasticity, together with host variability, makes it difficult (or even impossible) to deterministically predict antibiotic-mediated clearance of bacterial infection.

More studies are needed to elucidate the impact of these population fluctuations on treatment outcomes in clinical settings. However, we observed such fluctuations even for a relatively large population (~10<sup>4</sup> cells). In comparison, previous in vivo studies showed that the population size needed to establish infections (i.e., infectious dose) can be as small as 1–100 cells (Jones et al., 2006; Haas and Rose, 1994; Jones et al., 2005; Tuttle et al., 1999; DuPont et al., 1989; Hara-Kudo and Takatori, 2011; Kaiser et al., 1992), which is well within the stochasticity range. This means that if tens of cells (or even a few cells) happen to stochastically survive a fixed course of antibiotic treatment, this small population can re-establish infections once antibiotics are removed, leading to treatment failure. Importantly, a recent article raised an issue regarding the conventional wisdom of 'complete the prescribed course', and argued for re-consideration of antibiotic duration (Llewelyn et al., 2017). We believe that our observation of stochastic extinction dynamics, especially inherent variability in extinction time, has significant bearing on this issue.

Furthermore, our study may guide the design of new therapeutic strategies. Based on the deterministic understanding of population dynamics, it has been generally accepted that only at drug

concentrations above the MIC, bacterial populations go extinct. Contrarily, we observed that stochastic population fluctuations drive a population to extinction even at sub-MIC drug concentrations. This observation suggests an intriguing possibility that sub-MIC drug ranges can be used as a clinical option to clear bacteria. We acknowledge that the stochastic nature in the population dynamics is a double-edged sword. Stochasticity can be advantageous because it can drive a population to extinction even at low drug concentrations. But, stochasticity makes it impossible to pre-determine whether the bacterial population of particular interest will go extinct or not; this is disadvantageous because we cannot predict a priori if a specific treatment will work or not. However, this disadvantage can be minimized by manipulating population fluctuations and thereby increasing the probability of extinction. In the present study, we explored this possibility with the help of the probabilistic model, showing that it is possible to increase the probability of clearance. This idea of using subMIC drug concentrations to clear bacteria is particularly attractive in the context of antibiotic resistance. Antibiotic-resistant bacteria have very high MICs, often above the levels that are toxic to hosts. Thus, antibiotic concentrations above the MIC cannot be administered, which is why antibiotic resistance is a serious public concern worldwide (O'Neill, 2016). Our plate assay using bactericidal drugs revealed that, like antibiotic-susceptible bacteria, resistant bacteria exhibited non-zero plating inefficiency below the MIC, indicating a non-zero probability of clearance at sub-MIC drug concentrations. We also showed that this probability of clearance could be manipulated, facilitating the clearance of antibiotic-resistant bacteria. For comparison, we note a recent study in the field of viral infections, which showed that stochastic noise in HIV gene expression may be used to treat HIV infections (Dar et al., 2014). This study further supports the idea that stochasticity can be advantageous and be used to combat infections. We believe that the time is ripe for the development of clinical treatment strategies to take advantage of stochasticity, especially so given recent advances in our understanding of stochasticity in biological processes (Jones et al., 2014; Ackermann, 2015; Tanouchi et al., 2015; Banerjee et al., 2017; Scott et al., 2007; Schmiedel et al., 2015; Sigal et al., 2006; Blount et al., 2008; Ray and Igoshin, 2012).

Our study will also have positive impacts on in vitro assessment of antibiotic efficacy. MIC is the most critical parameter to assess antibiotic efficacy. In the deterministic framework, MIC is defined as the drug concentration at which the population size is maintained, which is realized when the death rate is equal to growth rate (f = l); see Equation A2. Accordingly, in a broth dilution method, the drug concentration that yields no change in the turbidity of bacterial cultures is defined as the MIC. Above, we found that in the stochastic framework, at the MIC, the rates of death and growth are equal (f = l; see Figure 2D) and the extinction probability is 1 (Equation A6), meaning all populations go extinct at the MIC. Therefore, in both deterministic and stochastic frameworks, at the MIC, the condition, f = l, is satisfied, but population dynamics are very different (population maintenance versus population extinction). This clarification can reconcile two common ways to determine the MIC, a plate assay based on complete colony extinction and a broth method based on no change in culture turbidity (population maintenance); although the MICs were determined based on different population dynamics in these two cases, both methods identify the drug concentration at which growth rate is equal to death as the MIC. This clarification is particularly important in light of recent efforts to increase the efficiency of the broth method by using small culture volumes (which include a few or tens of bacterial cells) (Avesar et al., 2017). With such small volumes, MIC should be defined based on population extinction, not population maintenance.

Lastly, our findings have implications on bacterial persistence. Dormant cells are refractory to antibiotics, persisting through antibiotic treatments (Allison et al., 2011; Balaban et al., 2004).

They are present in very low frequencies (typically 10<sup>-5</sup>, meaning 1 out of 10<sup>5</sup> cells) (Lewis, 2010), and thus have little effects on population dynamics in small populations considered here (<<10<sup>5</sup>). However, a study of persister formation requires the enrichment of persisters. To enrich them, studies often treat a large population using antibiotics and characterize a small population of survivors as persisters. The inherently stochastic nature of a small population may lead to variability in this process of enrichment and characterization, complicating studies of persisters. In fact, such variability was reported by a recent quantitative study of persistence (Brauner et al., 2017). Therefore, our findings on the dynamics of small populations could be useful for a better understanding of persistence.

#### Materials and methods

#### Bacterial strains and culture

Experiments were conducted using E. coli strain NCM3722 (Soupene et al., 2003; Lyons et al., 2011; Brown and Jun, 2015). Bacteria were grown in 5 mL of Lysogeny Broth (LB, Fisher Bioreagents) in 20 mL borosilicate glass culture tubes at 37° C with shaking (250 rpm). Our typical experimental procedure is as follows. Cells were first cultured in LB broth overnight (pre-culture). The next morning, the cells were sub-cultured into pre-warmed LB broth at the optical density (OD600) of ~0.001 (measured using a Genesys20 spectrophotometer, Thermo-Fisher) and allowed to grow exponentially. The culture at the OD600 of ~0.4 was used for a plate assay or for microscope experiments.

We evolved a rifampicin-resistant mutant from our WT strain (NCM3722). We plated  $\sim 10^8$  WT cells on a LB agar plate containing 20 mg/ml (2 x MICWT). 18 colonies were formed next day. We chose one colony and purified it by re-streaking. The mutant (EMK32) had the MIC of 160

mg/ml. We obtained the cefsulodin-resistant strain (EMK35, MIC = 170 mg/ml) and vancomycinresistant strain (EMK36, MIC = 250 mg/ml) from Georgia Emerging Infections Program MuGSI collection (their MuGSI strain numbers were Mu519 and Mu107, respectively.)

# Plate assay

Cells were spread on LB agar plates containing different concentrations of various antibiotics (see below). Through serial dilutions (using 1.16% (w/v) NaCl solution), we ensured the number of colonies to be between 50 and 250 on a plate (100x 15 mm Petri dish). The plates were then incubated at 37°C. After 18 hr of incubation, the number of visible colonies on plates was determined. As indicated in the main text, we also used casamino acids agar plates. We dissolved 2% casamino acids in N-C- minimal medium (Csonka et al., 1994) and filtered the medium. We separately autoclaved agar, and when agar was cooled and felt warm to the touch, the casamino acids medium was added.

#### Antibiotics

Stock solutions of ciprofloxacin (1 mg/ml), kanamycin (50 mg/ml), 6-APA (2 mg/ml), streptomycin (25 mg/ml), ofloxacin (1 mg/ml), erythromycin (10 mg/ml), vancomycin (100 mg/ml), and cefsulodin (30 mg/ml) were prepared in sterilized water. Stock solutions of tetracycline (50 mg/ml) and chloramphenicol (10 mM) were prepared in methanol. Stock solutions of thiolutin (2 mg/ml) and rifampicin (50 mg/ml) were prepared in DMSO. Antibiotics were purchased from Biobasic Inc (Canada), Acros Organics, or Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO.).

#### Time-Lapse microscopy

Cells were cultured as described above without antibiotics first. At OD600 of ~0.4, 2 mL of aliquot from a culture was loaded into a pre-warmed 35 mm glass-bottom Petri dish (InVitro

Scientific). A pre-warmed LB agarose pad containing antibiotics was placed over them (this procedure marked time zero). The dish was then moved into a pre-warmed (at 37°C) inverted microscope (Olympus IX83), and appropriate stage positions (typically ~50 positions) were selected. Selection of multiple state positions and setting up the software for automatic image acquisition normally took  $1 \sim 2$  hr. The microscope had an automated mechanical XY stage and auto-focus and was controlled by the MetaMorph software (Molecular Devices). Also, it was housed by a microscope incubator (InVivo Scientific) which maintained the temperature of samples at 37°C during experiments. An oil immersion phase-contrast 60X objective was used for imaging. Images were captured using a Neo 5.5 sCMOS camera (Andor). We also cultured cells in a microfluidic chemostat (using LB broth as growth medium). The detailed procedure for the microfluidic experiments was published in our previous articles (Kim et al., 2012; Deris et al., 2013). Images were analyzed using Microbel, a plug-in for the Imagel software (Ducret et al., 2016), and the analysis results were validated manually. In our experiments, all cells that stopped growing eventually underwent lysis. Although dormant cells that survive antibiotics (i.e., persisters) may complicate our analysis, their frequency is very low,  $\sim 10^{-5}$  (i.e., 1 in  $10^{5}$  cells) (Lewis, 2010). Because our study involves small populations (less than 100 cells), dormancy has little relevance to our study.

### Replicate culture using a microtiter plate

We first cultured cells in 5 mL LB medium to the OD600 of ~0.4, as described above. Previously, using a plate assay, we determined that OD600 of 0.4 contains 2 108 cells per 1 mL. Using this relation, we diluted the culture in 10 mL LB broth such that there were ~640 cells per 200 mL (we separately confirmed this density by plating cells on LB agar plates containing no antibiotics and counting colony-forming units). We supplemented this culture with various concentrations of antibiotics. We then equally distributed 200 mL of this culture to 12 chambers in a microtiter plate. We repeated this procedure by varying cell density. Next day, we measured the OD600 of each chamber.

### Acknowledgements

We thank Jeff Gore, Ve'ronique Perrot, and Bruce Levin for helpful comments on the manuscript. We also thank Emily Crispell and David Weiss for sharing strains with us. This work was funded by Research Corporation for Science Advancement (#24097) and the Human Frontier Science Program (RGY0072/2015).

# References

- J. O'Neill, Tackling Drug-Resistant Infections Globally: final report and recommendations. Review on Antimicrobial Resistance, (2016).
- 2. G. Doern, S. Brecher, The Clinical Predictive Value (or Lack Thereof) of the Results of In Vitro

Antimicrobial Susceptibility Tests. J. Clin. Microbiol. 49, S11-S14 (2011).

3. W. Weidner, M. Ludwig, E. Brähler, H. G. Schiefer, Outcome of Antibiotic Therapy with

Ciprofloxacin in Chronic Bacterial Prostatitis. Drugs 58, 103-106 (1999).

4. V. Gopal, A. L. Bisno, F. J. Silverblatt, Failure of vancomycin treatment in Staphylococcus aureus endocarditis. In vivo and in vitro observations. JAMA : the journal of the American

Medical Association 236, 1604-1606 (1976).

5. B. Ficnar, N. Huzjak, K. Oreskovic, M. Matrapazovski, I. Klinar, Azithromycin: 3-Day Versus 5-

Day Course in the Treatment of Respiratory Tract Infections in Children. Journal of

Chemotherapy 9, 38-43 (1997).

- A. Forrest, D. E. Nix, C. H. Ballow, T. F. Goss, M. C. Birmingham, J. J. Schentag, Pharmacodynamics of intravenous ciprofloxacin in seriously ill patients. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 37, 1073-1081 (1993).
- E. I. Nielsen, O. Cars, L. E. Friberg, Predicting In Vitro Antibacterial Efficacy across Experimental Designs with a Semimechanistic Pharmacokinetic-Pharmacodynamic Model. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 55, 1571-1579 (2011).
- 8. B. E. Ferro, J. van Ingen, M. Wattenberg, D. van Soolingen, J. W. Mouton, Time-kill kinetics of antibiotics active against rapidly growing mycobacteria. J. Antimicrob.

Chemother. 70, 811-817

(2015).

10.

9. R. R. Regoes, C. Wiuff, R. M. Zappala, K. N. Garner, F. Baquero, B. R. Levin,

Pharmacodynamic Functions: a Multiparameter Approach to the Design of Antibiotic Treatment

Regimens. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **48**, 3670-3676 (2004). D. Czock, C. Markert, B. Hartman, F. Keller, Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of

antimicrobial drugs. Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology 5, 475-487 (2009).

11. R. M. Jones, M. Nicas, A. E. Hubbard, A. L. Reingold, The Infectious Dose of Coxiella Burnetii

(Q Fever). Applied Biosafety 11, 32-41 (2006).
12. C. Haas, J. Rose, Reconciliation of microbial risk models and outbreak epidemiology: the case of the Milwaukee outbreak. Water Quality: Proceedings American Water Works Association Annual

Conference. New York, U. S. A., 517-523 (1994).

 R. M. Jones, M. Nicas, A. Hubbard, M. D. Sylvester, A. Reingold, The Infectious Dose of Francisella Tularensis (Tularenia). Applied Biosafety 10, 227-239 (2005). 14. J. Tuttle, T. Gomez, M. P. Doyle, J. G. Wells, T. Zhao, R. V. Tauxe, P. M. Griffin, Lessons from a large outbreak of Escherichia coli O157:H7 infections: insights into the infectious dose and method of widespread contamination of hamburger patties. Epidemiology and Infection 122, 185-

192 (1999).

 H. L. DuPont, M. M. Levine, R. B. Hornick, S. B. Formal, Inoculum Size in Shigellosis and Implications for Expected Mode of Transmission. The Journal of infectious diseases 159, 1126-

1128 (1989).

- Y. Hara-Kudo, K. Takatori, Contamination level and ingestion dose of foodborne pathogens associated with infections. Epidemiology and Infection 139, 1505-1510 (2010).
- A. B. Kaiser, D. S. Kernodle, R. A. Parker, Low-Inoculum Model of Surgical Wound Infection.

The Journal of infectious diseases 166, 393-399 (1992).

 E. Gullberg, S. Cao, O. G. Berg, C. Ilbäck, L. Sandegren, D. Hughes, D. I. Andersson, Selection of Resistant Bacteria at Very Low Antibiotic Concentrations. PLoS pathogens 7, e1002158

(2011).

 M. A. Kohanski, M. A. DePristo, J. J. Collins, Sublethal Antibiotic Treatment Leads to Multidrug

Resistance via Radical-Induced Mutagenesis. Mol. Cell 37, 311-320 (2010).

A. J. Lopatkin, S. Huang, R. P. Smith, J. K. Srimani, T. A. Sysoeva, S. Bewick, D. K. Karig,
 L. You, Antibiotics as a selective driver for conjugation dynamics. Nature Microbiology 1,
 16044

(2016).

21. R. Dagan, K. P. Klugman, W. A. Craig, F. Baquero, Evidence to support the rationale that

bacterial eradication in respiratory tract infection is an important aim of antimicrobial therapy. J.

Antimicrob. Chemother. 47, 129-140 (2001).

- 22. R. C. Allen, R. Popat, S. P. Diggle, S. P. Brown, Targeting virulence: can we make evolutionproof drugs? Nat Rev Micro 12, 300-308 (2014).
- W. A. Craig, Pharmacokinetic/Pharmacodynamic Parameters: Rationale for Antibacterial Dosing of Mice and Men. Clinical Infectious Diseases 26, 1-12 (1998).
- 24. M. E. Falagas, G. S. Tansarli, P. I. Rafailidis, A. Kapaskelis, K. Z. Vardakas, Impact of Antibiotic

MIC on Infection Outcome in Patients with Susceptible Gram-Negative Bacteria: a Systematic

Review and Meta-Analysis. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56, 4214-4222 (2012).

- 25. Y. Liu, J. Li, J. Du, M. Hu, H. Bai, J. Qi, C. Gao, T. Wei, H. Su, J. Jin, P. Gao, Accurate assessment of antibiotic susceptibility and screening resistant strains of a bacterial population by linear gradient plate. Science China Life Sciences **54**, 953-960 (2011).
- 26. E. J. Ernst, E. E. Roling, C. R. Petzold, D. J. Keele, M. E. Klepser, In Vitro Activity of Micafungin (FK-463) against Candida spp.: Microdilution, Time-Kill, and Postantifungal-Effect Studies. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 46, 3846-3853 (2002).
- 27. Y. Dong, X. Zhao, B. N. Kreiswirth, K. Drlica, Mutant Prevention Concentration as a Measure of

Antibiotic Potency: Studies with Clinical Isolates of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Antimicrob.

Agents Chemother. 44, 2581-2584 (2000).

28. M. Kim, Z. G. Zhang, H. Okano, D. L. Yan, A. Groisman, T. Hwa, Need-based activation of ammonium uptake in Escherichia coli. Mol. Syst. Biol. **8**, 616 (2012).

- 29. B. Deris, M. Kim, Z. Zhang, H. Okano, R. Hermsen, A. Groisman, T. Hwa, The innate growth bistability of antibiotic resistant bacteria. Science **342**, 1237435-1237431 (2013, \* equal contribution).
- 30. P. Belenky, Jonathan D. Ye, Caroline B. M. Porter, Nadia R. Cohen, Michael A. Lobritz, T. Ferrante, S. Jain, Benjamin J. Korry, Eric G. Schwarz, Graham C. Walker, James J. Collins, Bactericidal Antibiotics Induce Toxic Metabolic Perturbations that Lead to Cellular Damage. Cell Reports 13, 968-980 (2015).
- M. A. Lobritz, P. Belenky, C. B. M. Porter, A. Gutierrez, J. H. Yang, E. G. Schwarz, D. J. Dwyer, A. S. Khalil, J. J. Collins, Antibiotic efficacy is linked to bacterial cellular respiration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 112, 8173-8180 (2015).
- 32. A. S. Novozhilov, G. P. Karev, E. V. Koonin, Biological applications of the theory of birthanddeath processes. Briefings in Bioinformatics **7**, 70-85 (2006).
- S. R. Pavel Krapivsky, Eli Ben-Naim, A Kinetic View of Statistical Physics. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2010).
- D. G. Kendall, On the Generalized "Birth-and-Death" Process. Ann. Math. Statist. 19, 1-15 (1948).
- M. H. Kothary, U. S. Babu, Infective dose of foodborne pathogens in volunteers: A review. Journal of Food Safety **21**, 49-68 (2001).
   J. A. Gama, S. S. Abby, S. Vieira-Silva, F. Dionisio, E. P. C. Rocha, Immune Subversion and Quorum-Sensing Shape the Variation in Infectious Dose among Bacterial Pathogens. PLoS pathogens **8**, e1002503 (2012).
- T. Artemova, Y. Gerardin, C. Dudley, N. M. Vega, J. Gore, Isolated cell behavior drives the evolution of antibiotic resistance. Mol. Syst. Biol. 11, (2015).
- 38. I. Brook, Inoculum Effect. Review of Infectious Diseases 11, 361-368 (1989).

 C. Tan, R. Phillip Smith, J. K. Srimani, K. A. Riccione, S. Prasada, M. Kuehn, L. You, The inoculum effect and band-pass bacterial response to periodic antibiotic treatment. Mol. Syst. Biol.

**8**, (2012).

- J. Karslake, J. Maltas, P. Brumm, K. B. Wood, Population Density Modulates Drug Inhibition and Gives Rise to Potential Bistability of Treatment Outcomes for Bacterial Infections. PLoS computational biology 12, e1005098 (2016).
- 41. T. Bollenbach, Antimicrobial interactions: mechanisms and implications for drug discovery and resistance evolution. Current opinion in microbiology **27**, 1-9 (2015).
- 42. P. S. Ocampo, V. Lázár, B. Papp, M. Arnoldini, P. Abel zur Wiesch, R. Busa-Fekete, G. Fekete,
  C. Pál, M. Ackermann, S. Bonhoeffer, Antagonism between Bacteriostatic and Bactericidal Antibiotics Is Prevalent. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58, 4573-4582 (2014).
- T. Bollenbach, S. Quan, R. Chait, R. Kishony, Nonoptimal microbial response to antibiotics underlies suppressive drug interactions. Cell 139, 707-718 (2009).
- 44. B. P. Goldstein, Resistance to rifampicin: a review. J Antibiot 67, 625-630 (2014).
- M. R. Smith, W. B. Wood, An Experimental Analysis of the Curative Action of Penicillin in Acute Bacterial Infections. Journal of Experimental Medicine 103, 509-522 (1956).
- M. Palaci, R. Dietze, D. J. Hadad, F. K. C. Ribeiro, R. L. Peres, S. A. Vinhas, E. L. N. Maciel, V.
  do Valle Dettoni, L. Horter, W. H. Boom, J. L. Johnson, K. D. Eisenach, Cavitary Disease and Quantitative Sputum Bacillary Load in Cases of Pulmonary Tuberculosis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 45,

54

4064-4066 (2007).

- W. E. Feldman, Concentrations of bacteria in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with bacterial meningitis. The Journal of Pediatrics 88, 549-552 (1976).
- G. Canetti, Present aspects of bacterial resistance in tuberculosis. American Review of Respiratory Disease 92, 687-703 (1965).
- 49. G. Canetti, Dynamic aspects of the pathology and bacteriology of tuberculous lesions.American review of tuberculosis 74, 13-21; discussion, 22-17 (1956).
- 50. T. Tomita, Y. Fukuda, K. Tamura, J. Tanaka, N. Hida, T. Kosaka, K. Hori, T. Sakagami, M. Satomi, T. Shimoyama, Successful eradication of Helicobacter pylori prevents relapse of peptic ulcer disease. Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics 16, 204-209 (2002).
- R. Wilson, S. Sethi, A. Anzueto, M. Miravitlles, Antibiotics for treatment and prevention of exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Journal of Infection 67, 497-515 (2013).
- R. Bayston, B. Nuradeen, W. Ashraf, B. J. C. Freeman, Antibiotics for the eradication of Propionibacterium acnes biofilms in surgical infection. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 60, 1298-1301

(2007).

- I. El Meouche, Y. Siu, M. J. Dunlop, Stochastic expression of a multiple antibiotic resistance activator confers transient resistance in single cells. Scientific reports 6, 19538 (2016).
- 54. Y. Wakamoto, N. Dhar, R. Chait, K. Schneider, F. Signorino-Gelo, S. Leibler, J. D. McKinney,
- Dynamic Persistence of Antibiotic-Stressed Mycobacteria. Science 339, 91-95 (2013).
  55. M. A. Sánchez-Romero, J. Casadesús, Contribution of phenotypic heterogeneity to adaptive

antibiotic resistance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111, 355-360 (2014).

56. X. Wang, Y. Kang, C. Luo, T. Zhao, L. Liu, X. Jiang, R. Fu, S. An, J. Chen, N. Jiang, L. Ren, Q.

Wang, J. K. Baillie, Z. Gao, J. Yu, Heteroresistance at the Single-Cell Level: Adapting to Antibiotic Stress through a Population-Based Strategy and Growth-Controlled

Interphenotypic

Coordination. mBio 5, (2014).

57. L. Ferrante, S. Bompadre, L. Leone, M. P. Montanari, A Stochastic Formulation of the

Gompertzian Growth Model for in vitro Bactericidal Kinetics: Parameter Estimation and

Extinction Probability. Biometrical Journal 47, 309-318 (2005).

58. R. Hermsen, J. B. Deris, T. Hwa, On the rapidity of antibiotic resistance evolution facilitated by a concentration gradient. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 10775-

10780

(2012).

59. S. Nissen-Meyer, Analysis of Effects of Antibiotics on Bacteria by Means of Stochastic Models.

Biometrics 22, 761-780 (1966).

60. T. I. Moy, A. R. Ball, Z. Anklesaria, G. Casadei, K. Lewis, F. M. Ausubel, Identification of novel antimicrobials using a live-animal infection model. Proceedings of the National Academy of

Sciences 103, 10414-10419 (2006).

- 61. A. J. Needham, M. Kibart, H. Crossley, P. W. Ingham, S. J. Foster, Drosophila melanogaster as a model host for Staphylococcus aureus infection. Microbiology **150**, 2347-2355 (2004).
- 62. C. Kaito, N. Akimitsu, H. Watanabe, K. Sekimizu, Silkworm larvae as an animal model of bacterial infection pathogenic to humans. Microbial Pathogenesis **32**, 183-190 (2002).
- 63. D. Duneau, J.-B. Ferdy, J. Revah, H. Kondolf, G. A. Ortiz, B. P. Lazzaro, N. Buchon, Stochastic

variation in the initial phase of bacterial infection predicts the probability of survival in D.

melanogaster. eLife 6, e28298 (2017).

- M. J. Llewelyn, J. M. Fitzpatrick, E. Darwin, SarahTonkin-Crine, C. Gorton, J. Paul, T. E. A. Peto, L. Yardley, S. Hopkins, A. S. Walker, The antibiotic course has had its day. BMJ 358, (2017).
- R. D. Dar, N. N. Hosmane, M. R. Arkin, R. F. Siliciano, L. S. Weinberger, Screening for noise in gene expression identifies drug synergies. Science, (2014).
- 66. D. L. Jones, R. C. Brewster, R. Phillips, Promoter architecture dictates cell-to-cell variability in gene expression. Science **346**, 1533-1536 (2014).
- 67. M. Ackermann, A functional perspective on phenotypic heterogeneity in microorganisms. Nat

Rev Micro 13, 497-508 (2015).

- Y. Tanouchi, A. Pai, H. Park, S. Huang, R. Stamatov, N. E. Buchler, L. You, A noisy linear map underlies oscillations in cell size and gene expression in bacteria. Nature 523, 357-360 (2015).
- K. Banerjee, A. B. Kolomeisky, O. A. Igoshin, Elucidating interplay of speed and accuracy in biological error correction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114, 5183-5188 (2017).
- M. Scott, T. Hwa, B. Ingalls, Deterministic characterization of stochastic genetic circuits. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104, 7402-7407 (2007).
- J. M. Schmiedel, S. L. Klemm, Y. Zheng, A. Sahay, N. Blüthgen, D. S. Marks, A. van Oudenaarden, MicroRNA control of protein expression noise. Science 348, 128-132 (2015).
- A. Sigal, R. Milo, A. Cohen, N. Geva-Zatorsky, Y. Klein, Y. Liron, N. Rosenfeld, T. Danon,
  N. Perzov, U. Alon, Variability and memory of protein levels in human cells. Nature 444,
  643-646

(2006).

- 73. Z. D. Blount, C. Z. Borland, R. E. Lenski, Historical contingency and the evolution of a key innovation in an experimental population of Escherichia coli. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105, 7899-7906 (2008).
- J. C. J. Ray, O. A. Igoshin, Interplay of Gene Expression Noise and Ultrasensitive Dynamics Affects Bacterial Operon Organization. PLoS computational biology 8, e1002672 (2012).
- 75. J. Avesar, D. Rosenfeld, M. Truman-Rosentsvit, T. Ben-Arye, Y. Geffen, M. Bercovici, S. Levenberg, Rapid phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing using nanoliter arrays. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114, E5787-E5795 (2017).
- K. R. Allison, M. P. Brynildsen, J. J. Collins, Metabolite-enabled eradication of bacterial persisters by aminoglycosides. Nature 473, 216-220 (2011).
- N. Q. Balaban, J. Merrin, R. Chait, L. Kowalik, S. Leibler, Bacterial persistence as a phenotypic switch. Science 305, 1622-1625 (2004).
- 78. K. Lewis, in Annual Review of Microbiology, Vol 64, 2010, S. Gottesman, C. S. Harwood, Eds.

(Annual Reviews, Palo Alto, 2010), vol. 64, pp. 357-372. A. Brauner, N. Shoresh, O. Fridman, N. Q. Balaban, An Experimental Framework for

Quantifying Bacterial Tolerance. Biophysical journal 112, 2664-2671 (2017).
80. E. Soupene, W. C. van Heeswijk, J. Plumbridge, V. Stewart, D. Bertenthal, H. Lee, G. Prasad, O.

79.

Paliy, P. Charernnoppakul, S. Kustu, Physiological studies of Escherichia coli strain
MG1655: Growth defects and apparent cross-regulation of gene expression. J. Bacteriol.
185, 5611-5626 (2003).

 E. Lyons, M. Freeling, S. Kustu, W. Inwood, Using Genomic Sequencing for Classical Genetics in E. coli K12. PloS one 6, e16717 (2011).

- S. D. Brown, S. Jun, Complete Genome Sequence of Escherichia coli NCM3722. Genome Announcements 3, (2015).
- 83. L. N. Csonka, T. P. Ikeda, S. A. Fletcher, S. Kustu, The accumulation of glutamate is necessary for optimal growth of Salmonella typhimurium in media of high osmolality but not induction of the proU operon. J Bacteriol **176**, 6324-6333 (1994).
- 84. A. Ducret, E. M. Quardokus, Y. V. Brun, MicrobeJ, a tool for high throughput bacterial cell detection and quantitative analysis. Nature Microbiology **1**, 16077 (2016).
- 85. B. R. Levin, D. E. Rozen, Non-inherited antibiotic resistance. Nat Rev Micro 4, 556-562 (2006).



Figure 0-1: Contrasting trends in plating efficiency at increasing concentrations of bacteriostatic and bactericidal drugs.

A) When we performed the plate assay using bacteriostatic drugs, N<sub>CFU</sub> was generally maintained at increasing drug concentrations. See Figure 1-figure supplement 1 for a detailed illustration of how this plot was made. A linear regression analysis was performed for the whole data set below 0.75× MIC, resulting in the grey line (slope = -0.05, intercept = 0.9942, R-squared = 0.99).

Colony size decreased at increasing drug concentrations (Figure 1-figure supplement 2). B) For bactericidal drugs, N<sub>CFU</sub> decreased at increasing drug concentrations, indicating heterogeneous population dynamics of bacteria. A linear regression analysis was performed for the whole data set, and the result was plotted as a grey line (slope = -1.07, intercept = 1.10, R-squared = 0.79). For both groups of drugs, the lowest concentration yielding no colonies was defined as the MIC. The Supplementary File 1 lists the MICs for all drugs examined in this study. We plotted plating efficiency for each antibiotic in separate panels in Figure 1-figure supplement 4. C) For each bactericidal drug used in the experiment (for which the results were shown in Fig. 1B), we picked a few colonies from the agar plate exhibiting a plating efficiency of  $\sim 0.5$  (e.g., near 0.6x MIC) and plated them immediately on fresh agar plates containing various concentrations of the same drug. The plating efficiency was similar or marginally lower on the second plating, possibly because exposure to the antibiotics on the first plate adversely affected the cells and rendered them more susceptible to the antibiotics on the second plating. See Figure 1-figure supplement 3 for similar results for other drugs. Therefore, the ability of bacteria to grow and form colonies on plates containing bactericidal drugs was not heritable. We performed at least two biological repeats for all the experiments and plotted the mean here. The error bars represent one standard deviation from the repeats.



Figure 0-2 Stochastic population dynamics of bacteria exposed to bactericidal drugs. We characterized how cells grow and form micro-colonies on LB agar plates containing different concentrations of antibiotics using time-lapse microscopy. At time zero, we transferred cells

growing in antibiotic-free LB liquid medium to a LB agar plate, and confirmed that individual cells were spread out and isolated. Setting up a time-lapse imaging experiment after the transfer took 1~2 hours, which is why there is a gap in the data immediately after time zero (dashed lines). The experiments were independently repeated twice (biological repeats) and the data from one experiment are shown here. A, B) We counted the number of growing cells in each micro-colony (represented by a different color). In the absence of antibiotics (panel A) or with a sub-MIC level of a bacteriostatic drug (panel B, 0.7x MIC of chloramphenicol), the number increased similarly for different colonies, revealing homogeneous population growth. Example image sequences are shown in Video 1 and 2. The data are replotted on a semi-log scale (insets). Such homogeneous population growth was observed for other bacteriostatic drugs (thiolutin and tetracycline) as well; see Figure 2figure supplement 1. When we repeated the experiment using a microfluidic device, we again observed the same homogeneous population dynamics (Figure 2; figure supplement 2A). C) In contrast, the population dynamics of bacteria exposed to a bactericidal drug were highly heterogeneous. An example image sequence was shown in Video 3. The number of growing cells within micro-colonies at 0.8x MIC of cefsulodin is plotted here; the result shows stochastic population fluctuations. Such population fluctuations were again observed when experiments were repeated using other bactericidal drugs (ofloxacin, kanamycin, and 6-APA); see Figure 2-figure supplement 3A-C. The light, red-shaded region indicates the number equal to zero (i.e., population extinction). When we repeated these experiments using a microfluidic device, we again observed population fluctuations (Figure 2-figure supplement 2B-D). D) Our model predicts that the probability of population extinction increases linearly with death rate, with the slope being 1 (the solid line). We experimentally characterized the extinction probability (Figure 2-figure supplement 4), and the death rate (Figure 2-figure supplement 5-6), at different concentrations of bactericidal

drugs. Using these data, we obtained the relationship between the extinction probability and the death rate, and plotted it here (green circles: cefsulodin, pink squares: ofloxacin, and grey triangles: 6-APA). We found good agreement between the model prediction and experimental data. Note that at increasing drug concentrations, death rate changed little (Figure 2-figure supplement 6B), and thus was taken as a constant in the analysis here.



Figure 0-3. Further characterization of stochastic population dynamics. A, B) In Fig. 2C and Figure 2-figure supplement 3A-C, we showed the population dynamics of bacteria exposed to sub-MIC levels of bactericidal drugs. Here, we show the dynamics at drug

concentrations above MIC (1.2x MIC). The number of growing cells within micro-colonies for cefsulodin is plotted in panel A. The results for other bactericidal drugs were plotted in Figure 2figure supplement 3D-F. We observed that all populations went extinct at various times. We then counted the number of live colonies (colonies that have not undergone extinction yet) at various times (~150 colonies monitored). The number decreased gradually over time (green circles: cefsulodin, pink squares: ofloxacin, and grey triangles: 6APA); see panel B. The decrease was linear in a semi-log plot, consistent with the model prediction of an exponential decay (Eq. S7). C) We characterized the extinction probability of populations starting with ~640 cells. We prepared a large volume of a cell culture with the cell density of ~640 cells/  $200 \,\mu$ L, supplemented the culture with a low concentration of cefsulodin (23  $\mu$ g/ml), and then distributed 200  $\mu$ L of the cell culture equally to 12 isolated chambers in a microtiter plate. We repeated this procedure using higher cefsulodin concentrations (but maintaining the inoculum size). We then incubated the microtiter plate overnight. By counting the chambers that became turbid or clear, we calculated the extinction probability. We used a heat map to graphically represent the probability; for illustration purpose, we also added the values of the probability to the plot. At low cefsulodin concentrations (to the left of the dashed line), all chambers became turbid ( $P_0 = 0$ ). At high concentrations (to the right of the solid line), all chambers were clear ( $P_0 = 1$ ); thus, the solid line indicates MIC. At intermediate concentrations (between the dashed and solid lines), we observed heterogeneous results (only some chambers were clear,  $0 \le P_0 \le 1$ ). D) We repeated this experiment using different inoculum sizes and bactericidal drugs. Please note that although we prepared a large volume culture and distributed it equally to chambers, the number of cells in each chamber might vary. We found that the variation was  $\sim 10\%$  or less. See Appendix 3 for details.



Figure 0-4 Increasing the population-extinction probability by a growth reduction strategy.

(A, B) Previously, we plated WT (antibiotic-susceptible) E. coli cells on LB agar plates at various concentrations of cefsulodin and plotted the plating efficiency in Fig. 1B. Here, we plotted the plating inefficiency (1- plating efficiency) as white columns in the top row; the plating inefficiency

represents the extinction probability. We then repeated a plate assay, either by using casamino acids agar plates (left), or by adding a sub-MIC concentration of a bacteriostatic drug, chloramphenicol (0.7x MIC, middle) or tetracycline (0.5x MIC, right), to LB agar plates. Note that casamino acids lead to slower growth than LB; see Figure 4-figure supplement 1. We plotted the plating inefficiency obtained with these treatments as solid columns in panel A. We repeated this procedure for rifampicin (middle row) and vancomycin (bottom row), for kanamycin and 6-APA (Figure 4-figure supplement 3), and for ciprofloxacin and ofloxacin (Figure 4-figure supplement 4). Note that how generally growth reduction leads to an increase in the extinction probability depends on whether growth rate is dependent on death rate or not; see the main text and Figure

4-figure supplement 2. We then used antibiotic-resistant strains and repeated these experiments (panel B). Please note that the MICs of these mutants were five to ten-fold higher than those of the WT strain. The rise of solid columns above white columns indicates an increase in the extinction probability. We performed at least two biological repeats for all the experiments and plotted the mean. The error bars represent one standard deviation from the repeats.





We illustrated how we obtained Fig. 1A and 1B, using the results for rifampicin as an example. Antibiotic-susceptible, wild-type E. coli cells were spread on agar plates containing increasing concentrations of rifampicin. After 18 hours of incubation, the number of colony forming units ( $N_{CFU}$ ) per milliliter was determined; see panel A. By normalizing  $N_{CFU}$  to that for an antibiotic-free plate ( $N_{CFU}^0$ ), we obtained the plating efficiency (= $N_{CFU}/N_{CFU}^0$ ); see panel B. We defined the lowest drug concentration at which the plating efficiency was zero as the MIC: MIC=10 µg/ml for rifampicin. We normalized the drug concentration to the MIC value; see panel C. We repeated this procedure for various antibiotics and plotted the results in Fig. 1A and 1B.





We spread cells on agar plates containing various concentrations of bacteriostatic drugs, and after 18 hours of incubation, measured the size of the colonies (using ImageJ software). At increasing concentrations, the size of the colonies decreased. The figure shows the sizes of the colonies normalized to the size on the plate without antibiotics. We performed at least two biological repeats for all the experiments and the error bars represent one standard deviation from the repeats. The grey line was obtained from a linear regression analysis of the whole data set: slope = -0.83, intercept = 0.95, R-squared = 0.80.



Figure 0-7 Figure 1-figure supplement 3

For each bactericidal drug used (for which the results were shown in Fig. 1B), we picked a few colonies from an agar plate exhibiting the plating efficiency of  $\sim$ 0.5 (e.g., near 0.6x MIC) and plated them immediately on fresh agar plates containing various concentrations of the same drug. The data for ciprofloxacin, 6-APA, streptomycin, and ofloxacin were reported here. (The data for cefsulodin, vancomycin, kanamycin, and rifampicin were reported in Fig. 1C.)



Figure 0-8 Figure 1-figure supplement 4.

We previously plotted plating efficiency for all the antibiotics tested in two panels (Fig. 1A-B). Here, we plot it for each antibiotic in separate panels.



Figure 0-9 Figure 2-figure supplement 1.

We characterized how cells grew and formed micro-colonies at sub-MIC levels of bacteriostatic drugs (chloramphenicol, thiolutin, and tetracycline) at single-cell resolution. See Fig. 2 and its caption for details. The data for chloramphenicol were plotted in Fig. 2B. The data for tetracycline (0.7x MIC) and thiolutin (0.5x MIC) were plotted here. The data were replotted on a semilog scale (insets).

In our plate assay (data shown in Fig. 1A), we plated cells on agar containing increasing concentrations of bacteriostatic drugs and, after 18 hours of incubation, counted the number of visible colonies. The lowest drug concentrations yielding no visible colonies were defined as the MIC. When we performed our microscope experiments at the MICs of bacteriostatic drugs, we observed that some cells still grew, albeit at very low rates, and micro-colonies expanded very slowly. After 18 hours, the colonies reached the size less than 200  $\mu$ m (estimated from the microscope image). This is too small and difficult to detect with the naked eye, which was why we failed to notice in our plate assay. Also, at these concentrations of chloramphenicol and tetracycline,
we observed filamentation of some cells. Some of these filamentous cells divided and produced normal-looking daughter cells, which grew properly afterwards. There were also filamentous cells that did not resume normal growth within our observation window (~24 hrs).



Figure 0-10 Figure 2-figure supplement 2.

Previously, we developed a microfluidic chemostat for cell culture (28, 29). We cultured E. coli cells in this device. Our microfluidic chemostat has about one hundred microchambers. We inoculated

these chambers by loading single cells into them and then exposed them to 0.8x MIC of various drugs. Then, using time-lapse microscopy, we recorded how one cell in each chamber grew and formed a population. (There were chambers that were initially inoculated with multiple cells. We did not record cell growth in such chambers). By counting the number of cells at different times in each chamber, we determined the trajectory of population size for each population.



Figure 0-11 Figure 2-figure supplement 3.

We show population dynamics of bacteria exposed to bactericidal drugs (0.8x MIC or 1.2x MIC). See Fig. 2C and 3A, and their captions for details.





As discussed in the main text, we analyzed single-cell-level image sequences, and counted the number of colonies that went extinct. Here, we plotted the probability of colony extinction ( $P_0$ ) at different drug concentrations (green circles: cefsulodin, pink squares: ofloxacin, and grey triangles: 6-APA).



We determined the rates of cell growth  $\lambda$  and death  $\Phi$  at sub-MIC drug concentrations, by analyzing the time-lapse microscopy images of colony growth. Here, we described our determination procedure using the data from 0.8 × MIC of cefsulodin as an example. As shown in the Video 3, live cells continued to elongate and divide. Every now and then, these cells underwent lysis (i.e., cell death). We counted the number of live cells,n, and the number of dead cells, nD, in each colony. We then averaged them across ~20 colonies, which yielded a temporal trajector, we have  $\lambda_{m(x)}$  and another trajectory for (nD(t)). Equation A9 predicted that (n) increases exponentially over time, and this prediction was supported by a linear pattern in the temporal semi-log plot; see panel A (a linear regression analysis was performed, resulting in the blue line (slope = 0.0058, intercept = -0.556, Rsquared = 0.9971)). The slope of this linear increase is determined by  $\lambda - \Phi$  (See Equation A9). Equation A12 predicted a linear relation between (n) and (nD), and this prediction was supported by a linear regression analysis was performed, resulting in the green line (slope = 0.6770, intercept = -0.998, R-squared = 0.9896)). The slope of this linear pattern is equal to $\varphi\lambda-\varphi$ (see Equation A12). Analyzing these slopes, we determined  $\lambda$  and  $\varphi$  to be 1.35/hr and 0.54/hr. We repeated this procedure for various drug concentrations, as well as for other drugs. The results were plotted in Figure 2—figure supplement 6. linear pattern in panel B (a linear regression analysis was performed, resulting in the green line (slope = 0.6770, intercept = -0.998, R-squared = 0.9896)). The slope is this linear line is equal to (see Eq. S12). Analyzing these slopes, we determined to be 1.35 /hr and 0.54 /hr. We repeated this procedure for various drug concentrations, as well as for other drugs. The results were 864 plotted in Figure 2-figure supplement 6.





Following the procedure described in Figure 2-figure supplement 5, we determined the rates of cell growth and death at different drug concentrations (green circles: cefsulodin, pink squares: ofloxacin, and grey triangles: 6-APA).



Figure 0-14 Figure 4-figure supplement 1.

We cultured cells in either LB medium or N-C- medium supplemented with 2% of casamino acids (83). The doubling time was 18 mins and 33 min respectively.



Figure 0-15 Figure 4-figure supplement 2.

We measured MICs of bactericidal drugs using exponentially-growing cultures and confirmed that at 1.5× MICs, all growing cells were eradicated; i.e., survival fraction (SF) was equal to zero. We then stopped cell growth in cultures by depriving the cells of nutrients, added 1.5× MICs, and measured SF. SF was 1 for kanamycin and 6-APA (blue columns), indicating that they were not capable of killing non-growing cells. Other drugs (red columns) could kill non-growing cells, but with lower efficacy as SF was not zero. Lower susceptibility of non-growing bacteria to drugs has been previously documented (e.g., see (85)). We performed two biological repeats and plotted the 877 mean. The error bars represent one standard deviation from the repeats.



Figure 0-16 Figure 4-figure supplement 3.

In Figure 4-figure supplement 2, we found that kanamycin and 6-APA do not kill non-growing cells. Here, we show that the growth reduction strategy does not work for these two antibiotics. White columns indicate the plating inefficiency without the growth reduction treatment. The solid columns are with treatment. In the figure, overlapping columns were from the same drug concentrations, but their centers were shifted to visualize both white and solid columns. Please see the main text and the caption of Fig. 4 for detail. We performed two biological repeats and plotted the mean. The error bars represent one standard deviation from the repeats.



Figure 0-17 Figure 4-figure supplement 4.

A previous study showed bacteriostatic translation-inhibiting drugs and bactericidal quinolone drugs affect gene expression in a way to negate their effects (43). The figure shows that for ofloxacin or ciprofloxacin (quinolone drugs), the growth reduction strategy did not lead to a significant change in the extinction probability, consistent with the previous study. We performed two biological repeats and plotted the mean. The error bars represent one standard deviation from the repeats.

## Appendix 2

To rule out heritable resistance as an explanation for heterogeneous colony formation (Fig. 1B), we performed two rounds of plating at sub-MIC drug concentrations (Fig. 1C and Figure 1-figure supplement 3). We picked a few colonies from the agar plate exhibiting a plating efficiency of  $\sim 0.5$  (e.g., near 0.6x MIC) and plated them immediately on fresh agar plates containing various concentrations of the same drug. The plating efficiency was similar or marginally lower on the second plating, possibly because exposure to the antibiotics on the first plate adversely affected the

cells and rendered them more susceptible to the antibiotics on the second plating. This observation rules out heritable resistance as an explanation for heterogeneous colony formation at sub-MIC drug concentrations. Of course, if we perform multiple rounds of plating, we might eventually select for antibiotic-resistant mutants. However, for each round, we collect  $\sim 10^5$  cells from a previous plate and plate  $\sim 100$  cells on a fresh plate. This procedure creates a bottleneck effect, which reduces genetic variation and effectively weakens selection pressure for antibiotic resistance. Therefore, we expect that the evolution of antibiotic resistance is slow.

# Appendix 3

We characterized the fluctuations in inoculum size by determining standard deviation and percent variation; see Appendix-Table 1. The variation was  $\sim 10\%$  or less. In Fig. 3D, which shows the extinction probability at various (average) inoculum size, the probability changes only gradually for two-fold increment in inoculum size (which is equivalent to a 100% increase). Therefore, we do not believe that these fluctuations in inoculum size have a significant effect on the results.

## Appendix-Table 1

Average	Standard	Percent
inoculum size	deviation	variation
11.4	1.49	13%
58.4	3.7	6.3%
135.8	7.8	7.8%

## Video 1: The growth of micro-colonies in the absence of a drug.

We characterized how cells grew and formed micro-colonies on LB agar using time-lapse microscopy.

An example image sequence is shown here. The time interval between each frame is 20 minutes. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.32976.014

## Video 2: The growth of micro-colonies with a bacteriostatic drug

We characterized how cells grew and formed micro-colonies on LB agar using time-lapse microscopy.

0.7x MIC of chloramphenicol was used. An example image sequence is shown here. The time interval 991

between each frame is 19 minutes. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.32976.015

## Video 3: The growth of micro-colonies with a bactericidal drug

We characterized how cells grew and formed micro-colonies on LB agar using time-lapse microscopy. 994 0.8x MIC of cefsulodin was used. An example image sequence is shown here. The time interval between each frame is 15 minutes. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.32976.016</u>

# Chapter III: Mumps transmission in United States in the post-vaccine era: A systematic review **Jessica Coates**

## Abstract

Despite a high two-dose coverage of measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine in the United States, a resurgence of mumps cases has been observed in university, close knit, mass gathering, and detention center settings since 2006. We aimed to utilize a systematic review with the following criteria to estimate differences in mumps transmission by setting in the United States after the resurgence in 2006. We searched the PubMed/MEDLINE database ending August 2021 to identify any observational studies reporting mumps cases in the United States after the licensure of the Jeryl Lynn mumps vaccine. We included interventions such as any mitigation strategies that encouraged isolation of sick patients, mask wearing, and vaccination. Results included in our analysis were selfreported, or provider-reported estimates of mumps cases, vaccination coverage, and population size for the affected settings that allowed us to estimate the effective reproduction (Re) number for mumps in the United States. Two reviewers independently appraised 331 citations for inclusion. One reviewer independently appraised 97 full texts for inclusion and methodological quality. We identified 14 articles describing 1,395 cases of mumps occurring after the licensure of the Jeryl Lynn mumps vaccine. Six cases occurring after the 2006 resurgence and were included in further quantitative analysis. Outbreaks after the resurgence took place in military barracks (1), an elementary school (1), and universities (4). Due to reporting bias and data unavailability, we were unable to estimate the mean effective Re value for mumps in the United States, but we did observe point estimates between 0.05 and 1.22. The lower Re values observed may be the consequence of

non-pharmaceutical interventions used in combination with vaccination campaigns to reduce the transmission of mumps, but further studies are necessary to verify the validity of that claim.

## Introduction

The mumps virus, a single-stranded, negative-sense RNA virus belonging to the Paramyxovirus family, is the causative agent of mumps. Following a 15-to-24-day (median 19 days) incubation period, infection is characterized by unilateral or bilateral parotid swelling, fever, and headaches in up to 70% of cases <sup>1</sup>. One-third of mumps infections are asymptomatic but in severe cases, orchitis, oophoritis, pancreatitis, aseptic meningitis and encephalitis can occur <sup>2</sup>.

Mumps is a moderately to highly contagious infection in humans <sup>3</sup>. Transmission results from a susceptible individual coming in contact with saliva or the respiratory droplets from the mouth, nose, or throat of an infectious individual <sup>4,5</sup>. On average, individuals are infectious from two days before to five days after parotitis onset <sup>6</sup>. Asymptomatic individuals can also contribute to the transmission of mumps; up to one-third of individuals infected exhibit no symptoms but are contagious <sup>7</sup>. The risk for mumps infection increases with longer and closer contact highlighting the importance of understanding the role of epidemiologic setting in mumps transmission <sup>8</sup>.

Mumps is preventable through routine childhood vaccination with measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine which is available in most developed countries. A one-dose vaccination strategy was implemented in the United States in 1977 leading to a 99% reduction of mumps cases from a pre-vaccine era incidence of 251/100,000 in 1968 to 2.5/100,000 cases in 1982 <sup>9</sup>. However, despite the early success of the mumps vaccination program, a resurgence of mumps cases was observed between 1983 and 1992 with a national reported peak of 12,848 cases in 1987, corresponding to an incidence rate of 5.4/100,000 that year <sup>9</sup>. A two-dose vaccination strategy for MMR vaccine was implemented in 1989 in response to a major resurgence of measles cases. Mumps activity decreased to an incidence of 0.1/100,000 until a series of outbreaks began in 2006 (incidence 2.2/100,000).

Sustained mumps outbreaks have continued to be reported in a variety of epidemiologic settings including close-knit communities<sup>10-12</sup>, universities<sup>13</sup>, mass gatherings<sup>14</sup>, and detention centers<sup>15</sup>.

Most recent mumps outbreaks in the United States occurred in populations with high two dose vaccine coverage and in settings with high population density or prolonged person-to-person contact <sup>9</sup>. Lower vaccine effectiveness has been reported in congregate exposure settings, such as household contacts and close-knit religious communities <sup>16</sup>. Such densely populated environments with prolonged face-to-face contact can facilitate larger doses of mumps virus exposure during social interactions, which may overcome vaccine-mediated protection and result in secondary vaccine failure <sup>17</sup>.

Understanding how mumps transmission dynamics differ by setting can provide useful information for mumps outbreak control strategies. A systematic literature review can be a useful tool for guiding control strategies. Here, we investigate the MEDLINE database to estimate differences in mumps transmission by setting using the effective reproduction number derived from data reported in peer-reviewed studies. We first conducted a systematic literature search with consultation from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention epidemiologists to assemble manuscripts describing US mumps cases in the post-vaccine era (1968-2019). Then, we assembled a dataset describing the outbreak dynamics to complete a narrative synthesis comparing reports before and after the 2006 resurgence. Using data extracted from the reports after the 2006 resurgence and deemed of low risk for bias, we established point estimates of the effective reproductive number (Re) for each outbreak of 0.05 and 1.22. However, we were unable to make conclusive statements about how mumps transmission varies by setting. To successfully investigate how mumps transmission differs by setting, additional investigations are needed.

Objective and Overview of Systematic Review

(Re) in the United States by setting after the 2006 resurgence.

The interventions explored in the systematic review were any efforts to reduce mumps transmissions including previous vaccination, isolation of patients, vaccination campaigns, and wearing face masks. The population of interest was anyone exposed to mumps in the United States after the introduction of MMR vaccine. Participants were narrowed down to anyone exposed to mumps in the United States after 2006 for quantitative analysis. Our primary outcome measure was the potential for epidemic spread at a specific time t under the control measures in place calculated, or the effective reproduction number ( $R_t$ ). The ability to calculate our outcome measure was based on population level reports of the affected population size and vaccine coverage.

#### Methods

We included only epidemiologic studies that reported mumps outbreaks in the United States in the post vaccine era. These included descriptive observational studies and analytic observational studies. We defined descriptive observational studies as those concerned with characterizing the amount and distribution of health and disease within a population in the absence of a control group. Any observational studies including a control group (i.e., case control, cohort), were defined as analytic observational studies. Any other study design was excluded from the analysis. Limiting the review to observational studies was not ideal but practical due to the ethical concerns associated with conducting mumps transmission studies in humans.

We included studies comprised of any participants that were exposed to a mumps outbreak in the United States after the licensure of the Jeryl Lynn vaccine (1967). Participants did not need to be born in or hold citizenship in the United States, but they must have been present in the United States when the outbreak took place. Because our focus was understanding differences in transmission by setting, studies that only reported the location (e.g., state, country) of the participants and not the setting (e.g., clinic, school, work) were excluded. Additionally, we excluded participants that were pregnant or had a known co-infection. No exclusions were made by gender, age, sexual orientation, language, occupation, racial or ethnic group, or other characteristics.

Studies reporting outcome measures needed to estimate the effective reproduction number were included. Examples of outcome measures included count population vaccine data, population vaccine coverage, and population size. If reports included an ambiguous measure, authors were not contacted for further clarification and the study was excluded from the analysis.

#### Search methods for identification of studies

We performed a MeSH (Medical SubHeadings) term search to identify studies that have reported mumps outbreaks in the United States. We searched the Boolean phrase:

(Mumps [MeSH Terms]) AND (United States [MeSH Terms]).

Only studies published in English were included. No restrictions on journal of publication were imposed.

Our search was purely limited to the Medline Embase database and ended in August 2021. We did not search any other electronic databases, relevant government websites (i.e., Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute of Health), hand-search, peer-reviewed primary literature sources provided by experts in the field, or cross references.US (population) originating from a single setting and detailing information on vaccine coverage (outcome 1) and size of the affected population (outcome 2) thereby enabling calculation of the effective reproduction (Re) number by setting. We selected the Re value as our outcome of interest because it is a standard measure of transmission dynamics when a population is not fully susceptible like in the instance of mumps.

We applied the following exclusion criteria to categorize excluded articles.

- 1) Wrong patient population: the affected population was outside of the United States or occurred before the licensure of the Jeryl Lynn mumps vaccine
- 2) Wrong outcomes: authors failed to report vaccine coverage and size of the affected population
- 3) Wrong study design: articles were not primary literature sources
- 4) Wrong setting: outbreak was not confined to single identifiable setting
- 5) No full-text available

Citations were merged using Covidence 1.0<sup>1818</sup> to facilitate management. Two reviewers independently applied the inclusion criteria to all retrieved articles and records of mumps cases in an unmasked standardized manner, evaluated by title, abstract, and full text. Disagreements between reviewers were resolved by a senior reviewer. No efforts were made to address missing data. Characteristics of excluded articles are available on Github (link:

https://github.com/jcoatesmicrobiologist/Mumps-Systematic-Review). Articles that did not mention mumps in the United States in the title or abstract were deemed irrelevant can also be found on Github and are detailed in table S2.

For each included study, all reviewers extracted identification information including country of outbreak, setting, author contact information, region of the country, and area type (rural or urban). Additionally, one reviewer extracted information on study design, population characteristics and interventions.

Threats to Internal Validity

The internal validity of outcomes based on observational data can be threatened by systematic bias. Observational studies of mumps transmission are particularly vulnerable to problems with the comparability of participants or populations in a study (selection bias), factors other than the intervention or exposure of interest that influence the effect estimate (performance bias or confounding), problems with measurement or classification of exposure or outcomes (detection bias), and missing information attrition bias or reporting bias) <sup>19</sup>. To assess the risk of

systematic bias in the included studies, we utilized the Joanna Briggs Institute (JBI) checklists <sup>20</sup> for cohort, case control, and case series studies to critically appraise each article by answering a series of questions to evaluate the possibility for selection, performance, detection, attrition, or reporting bias specific to the study design.

## Measures of transmission dynamics

The goal of our systematic review was to estimate transmission dynamics or the Re value for each outbreak described in the literature. The Re calculation is dependent upon the estimated number of susceptible individuals in the population. To estimate the number of susceptible individuals (S), two reviewers extracted population size (N), and dose dependent vaccination coverage (p<sub>n</sub>) for each study. We estimated the number of susceptible individuals using the equation:

$$S = N\left[\frac{p_0}{p_0 + p_1 + p_{2+}}(1 - v_0) + \frac{p_1}{p_0 + p_1 + p_{2+}}(1 - v_1) + \frac{p_{2+}}{p_0 + p_1 + p_{2+}}(1 - v_{2+})\right]$$

where N is the population size,  $p_0$ ,  $p_1$ , and  $p_{2+}$  denote the fraction of the population that has been vaccinated with zero, one, or two or more doses, respectively, and  $v_0$ ,  $v_1$ , and  $v_{2+}$  denote vaccine effectiveness of individuals with zero, one, or two or more vaccine doses, respectively. S is rounded to the nearest whole number. We assume unvaccinated individuals are fully susceptible to infection ( $v_0$ = 0). We set vaccine effectiveness for individuals who have received one dose to  $v_1$  = 0.78 and for those who have received two or more doses to  $v_{2+}$  = 0.88 <sup>6</sup>.

To calculate the effective reproduction number and the standard errors (SE) for each outbreak, we used a similar approach to a previous study that compared differences in transmission by setting <sup>21</sup> that use the final epidemic size

$$R_e = \frac{S-1}{C} \sum_{i=S-C+1}^{S} \frac{1}{i}$$

$$S_{e}(R_{e}) = \frac{S-1}{C} \sqrt{\sum_{i=S-C+1}^{S} \frac{1}{i^{2}} + \frac{CR_{e}^{2}}{(S-1)^{2}}}$$

where C is the number of cases in the outbreak, and S is the number of susceptible persons at the start of the outbreak. The final size method assumes a susceptible-infected-recovered infection with a closed, homogeneously mixing population.

To investigate the feasibility of a meta-analysis, all eligible studies were summarized in Covidence to the best extent possible. A narrative synthesis was provided for all results, but we determined that a statistical meta-analysis was not appropriate for this review due to reporting bias and lack of available data. Had the studies been comparable and more completely reported, our meta-analysis would have measured the average effect size of the effective reproduction value for mumps in the United States.

Where statistics were missing (e.g., number of participants per group, vaccine coverage, means and standard deviations or percentages), we excluded studies from future analysis and made no attempts to contact investigators for missing data.

Results



Figure 1 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flow diagram of study selection. Outcomes of interest include population size, vaccine coverage, and the number of mumps cases.

To collect data for statistical analysis, we utilized a mumps specific Medical Subheadings (MeSH) term search strategy to identify manuscripts describing US mumps cases in the post-vaccine era (1968 - 2019). The results of our search strategy yielded 331 articles. After screening the titles and abstracts, we deemed 234 articles irrelevant or not related to mumps in the United States. Ninety-seven papers were deemed potentially relevant for further evaluation. Full text copies for 93 of these citations were obtained.

Of the 93 papers for which the full text was obtained, 73 were excluded for the following reasons: 38 were missing data necessary to estimate the effective reproduction number, 22 were secondary literature sources, 10 were reports of mumps cases not originating from a single setting and 3 were reports occurring before vaccine licensure.

After these studies were excluded, the narrative synthesis was limited to 20 separate papers, comprising 22 separate reports of mumps cases originating from a single setting. Two reports described outbreaks in multiple settings <sup>22,23</sup>. Four articles described the same outbreak: two reports described an outbreak in a rural Ohio middle school <sup>24,25</sup> and two reports described an outbreak in an Iowa University <sup>26,27</sup>.

Since incidence rates occurring during the first resurgence were reduced with administration of additional dose of MMR vaccination, studies occurring before the 2006 resurgence were excluded from the quantitative analysis to focus our quantitative efforts on understanding mumps transmission in two dose era. Quantitative analysis was limited to nine papers, comprising eleven separate reports of mumps cases originating from a single setting. Two reports described two settings <sup>22,23</sup>.

## Narrative Synthesis

Detailed information about individual manuscripts may be found on Github in the Table of Included Articles (Table S3).

Eighty-two percent (18) of the included studies were cohort studies. The remaining four studies included two case series reports <sup>28,29</sup> and two case-control studies <sup>30,31</sup>. Sixteen of the author institutions were the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The remaining two author institutions were medical centers <sup>32,33</sup>. Author institution was not reported for four studies <sup>22,34,35</sup>.

Together, the 20 articles reported 22 studies. No studies were missing population data. The population sizes ranged from 28 <sup>22</sup> to 36,000 <sup>29</sup>. The median population size was 1066. All 22 studies took place in the United States. Most studies took place in the Midwest, Southeast, and Northwest. Ten studies took place in the Midwest. Four studies reported in three articles took place in the Southeast <sup>22,31,36</sup>. Three studies took place in the Northeast <sup>33,37,38</sup>. One study took place in each of the following regions: non-contiguous United States <sup>39</sup>, Northwest <sup>28</sup>, Rocky Mountains <sup>32</sup>, Southwest <sup>40</sup> and Pacific <sup>29</sup>. Area type (rural versus urban) was reported for twenty studies. 73% (16) of the included studies took place in rural areas. Four studies took place in exclusively urban settings <sup>28,33,34,37</sup>. The location of the outbreaks was usually an educational setting (universities or K-12 schools). Other cases took place in a hospital <sup>32–34</sup>, Greek Life social organizations <sup>28</sup>, close-knit communities <sup>35,39</sup>, military <sup>22</sup>, and a summer camp <sup>38</sup>.

Participants ranged from newborns  $^{32-34}$  to middle age  $^{22}$ . No studies included information on the elderly. Mean age for the population was only reported for one study  $^{22}$  (military; mean age 24 years, range 20 to 37 years). When age was reported, it was often reported in a format that made estimating the mean age impossible. For example, one study reported case data by age with bins (<14, >18) for students outside "typical" high school ages  $^{36}$ , and another reported age only as a binary outcome (>6 months or <6 months)  $^{32}$ . Information on vaccination status was self-reported or reported by parents for individuals under eighteen for three studies. Two studies relied on information reported by parents <sup>25</sup>. The remaining study relied on self-reporting surveys <sup>30,34</sup>. Information on vaccination status was also obtained through reviewing school and medical records. Six studies relied on school records <sup>26,27,29,37,40,41</sup> and four studies used medical records <sup>22,32,33,38</sup>. Two studies used two methods to obtain vaccine data: Briss et.al, <sup>36</sup> used school and medical records, and Wharton et al. <sup>31</sup> used school record and self-reporting, to obtain vaccine data. One study utilized a combination of methods to report vaccine data including school records, medical records, immunization databases, and self-reporting <sup>30</sup>. One manuscript reporting two studies relied on electronic medical data <sup>23</sup>. Five studies reported over four manuscripts included information on vaccine status or an estimate of population vaccine coverage but did not provide information on how the values were obtained <sup>22,28,35,39</sup>.

Fourteen studies in thirteen manuscripts reported an attempt to assess the validity of vaccination records <sup>22,23,26,31,33,34,36-41</sup>. Vaccination records were validated by comparing school immunization records to healthcare providers <sup>31,36,40,41</sup> or parental records <sup>37</sup>. Schaffzin et al. <sup>38</sup> also relied on healthcare provider recorders to validate vaccine status but only validated a subset of the records <sup>38</sup>. Eight studies did not report how vaccine data were validated <sup>22,24,25,28–30,32,35,39</sup>. Maynard et al. <sup>39</sup>, did not report how vaccine data were obtained but assumptions on the validity can be justified based on historical data suggesting a lack of vaccination in the area.

Clinical and laboratory diagnosis was the primary method for confirming mumps cases. Five studies, all before the second dose recommendation, relied solely on clinical diagnosis on the basis of parotid swelling <sup>24,25,31,35,37</sup>. The remaining studies used a combination of clinical and laboratory diagnosis. Common laboratory diagnostic methods included detection of viral genomic material (i.e., RT-PCR) and detection of mumps specific IgM via enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) or immunofluorescence assays (IFA).

Seven studies reported in six manuscripts did not report information on interventions used to decrease the spread of mumps <sup>24,25,38,40,41</sup>. The remaining studies utilized vaccination campaigns to reduce transmission. Three of the remaining studies utilized isolation of cases in addition to vaccination to reduce transmission <sup>30,32,34</sup>. Contact tracing in addition to vaccination and case isolation was used in three studies reported over two manuscripts <sup>22,35</sup>. Only one study utilized surgical masks, contact tracing, patient isolation, and vaccination to reduce spread of mumps <sup>33</sup>.

Outbreak year was reported for all the studies. Seven studies occurred before the second dose recommendation <sup>24,25,31,35,37,39,41</sup>. Fifteen studies occurred after the second dose recommendation but before the 2006 resurgence <sup>32,36,38,40</sup>. The remaining eleven studies occurred after the 2006 resurgence. Two studies described the same outbreak <sup>26,27</sup>. Shah et al. <sup>27</sup>, was excluded from further analysis because the manuscript lacked detailed information on vaccination coverage.

## Narrative Synthesis for studies after the 2006 resurgence

The 10 studies conducted after the 2006 resurgence (reported over 9 manuscripts) were retained for risk of bias assessment and future quantitative analysis. Seven of these studies (reported over 6 manuscripts) were retrospective cohort studies <sup>22,26,26,33,34</sup>. Two included studies were case series reports <sup>28,29</sup>. One study was a case-control study <sup>30</sup>.

Two studies (reported in one manuscript) were affiliated with the Department of Preventive Medicine, Blanchfield Army Community Hospital in Fort Campbell Kentucky<sup>22</sup>. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention was the author institution for the remaining studies.

The total population size and range did not differ significantly from the narrative synthesis including cases before the 2006 resurgence.

Most cases occurred in the Midwest. The most common location for studies was universities. Other cases took place in an elementary school <sup>22</sup>, Greek life housing <sup>28</sup>, hospitals <sup>33,34</sup>, and the military <sup>22</sup>.

Three studies did not report their method for obtaining vaccine data. School records were the most common method for obtaining vaccine data. Other methods included self-reported surveys <sup>34</sup> and medical records <sup>22</sup>.

All studies utilized laboratory diagnostic methods in line with the CSTE standards for detecting mumps. Epi-linkage to a confirmed case was also considered in detecting mumps cases.

Three studies reported over two manuscripts <sup>23,38</sup> did not report intervention strategies used to control mumps transmission. The remaining studies all reported vaccination campaigns as a means for decreasing mumps spread. Two studies only reported vaccination strategies to reduce transmission <sup>26,28</sup>. Three studies combined vaccination and patient isolation to control spread within the community <sup>29,30,34</sup>. Studies reported by Downs et al<sup>22</sup>., used contact tracing in addition to vaccination as an intervention to decrease mumps transmission. Only one study reported more than three interventions; in addition to contact tracing, patient isolation, and vaccination, Gilroy et al. <sup>33</sup>, reported the use of surgical masks to reduce transmission.

#### Risk of Bias

Threats to Internal Validity

Case series reports were deemed high risk for bias because of incomplete reporting of relevant demographic data and lack of reporting on the outcome of interventions. Due to the high risk for bias, these studies were excluded from future analysis <sup>28,29</sup>. Ultimately five manuscripts reporting seven studies were deemed low risk for bias and included in point estimations of the effective reproduction number <sup>22,23,26,30,34</sup>. University settings comprised four of the studies. Remaining studies occurred in a hospital <sup>34</sup>, elementary <sup>22</sup>, or military <sup>22</sup> setting. The lack of data

reported in settings other than universities limited our ability to perform sub-group analysis and determine how mumps transmission differs by setting.

Estimating how transmission dynamics differ by setting

The 'effective reproduction number' (Re; the average number of secondary cases per infectious case in a population made up of both susceptible and non-susceptible individuals) has been established as the most critical parameter for characterizing the transmission dynamics in populations where some immunity exists <sup>42,42</sup>. As a first step to examine if heterogeneity existed in mumps transmission dynamics between different settings, we used the Becker method <sup>4343</sup> to estimate the R<sub>e</sub> value for each outbreak included in our dataset. The R<sub>e</sub> was calculated based on 3 variables, the total population size of the outbreak (N), the total number of cases in the outbreak (C), and the number of susceptible persons at the start of the outbreak (S). Ten studies reported enough reliable data to estimate the Re value and were included in the analysis.

Cases ranged from 1 <sup>22</sup> to 259 <sup>26</sup>. Vaccine coverage ranged from 0.2% <sup>26</sup> to 19% <sup>22</sup>, 1% <sup>23</sup> to 91% <sup>22</sup>, and 0% <sup>22</sup> to 99.5% <sup>26</sup> for zero, one, and two plus doses of MMR, respectively. Vaccine coverage was unknown for 0% <sup>26</sup> to 93% <sup>34</sup> of individuals. Due to the large percentage of unknown vaccination status in Bonebrake et al. <sup>34</sup>, it would have been excluded from a meta-analysis. The proportion of susceptible individuals ranged from 12% <sup>23,26,30</sup> to 29% <sup>22</sup>. Point estimates for the effective reproduction number ranged from 0.05 <sup>22</sup> to 1.22 <sup>23</sup> (Table 1).

Comparison of these values was deemed statistically incomparable because of a limited sample size, preventing meta-analysis. By not completing a meta-analysis, we are unable to make statistical conclusions about the nature of mumps transmission in the post-vaccine era or compare the differences in transmission by setting. However, preliminary evidence that heterogeneity in mumps transmission may be the result of combining non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) with vaccination. The two outbreaks described in Downs et al <sup>22</sup>. had significantly lower Re values than

those observed in the university setting despite having a lower two-dose vaccination coverage. Other unique characteristics included early detection of the initial case, a lower percentage of individuals with unknown vaccination, and required quarantines for infected and exposed individuals. Further studies are necessary to determine the validity of this claim.

Title	Setting	Ν	punknown	р0	p1	p2+	Cases	Susceptible	Re
Risk factors for mumps at a university with a large mumps outbreak	University	19155	0.03			0.97	97	2299	1.04
Effectiveness of a Third Dose of MMR Vaccine for Mumps Outbreak Control	University	20496	0	0.002	0.003	0.995	259	2504	1.05
Public health response to imported mumps cases - Fort Campbell, Kentucky, 2018	Elementary School	77	0.01	0.08	0.91	0	1	17	0.05
Public health response to imported mumps cases - Fort Campbell, Kentucky, 2018	Military	28	0	0.19	0.81	0	1	8	0.11
Mumps vaccination coverage and vaccine effectiveness in a large outbreak among college students - lowa, 2006	University	1550	0.12	0.003	0.01	0.87	46	193	1.13
Mumps vaccination coverage and vaccine effectiveness in a large outbreak among college students - lowa, 2006	University	1199	0.19	0.008	0.17	0.19	63	178	1.22

Table	1. Studies	included	in	the s	systematic	review
-------	------------	----------	----	-------	------------	--------

# Discussion

By using the MEDLINE database, we investigated differences in transmission dynamics by setting for mumps outbreaks. While we were unable to estimate Re values by setting, our analysis led to three key findings: (1) the number of publications describing mumps cases in the United States available on PubMed/MEDLINE is too limited to estimate the differences in mumps transmission

by setting, (2) point estimates for the effective reproduction number in the United States since the 2006 resurgence range from 0.05 to 1.22, and (3) further research is needed to confirm the impact of NPIs on differences in mumps transmission by setting.

Our finding that the data necessary to estimate an aggregate effective reproduction number by setting for mumps using the MEDLINE database were limited is not surprising. In a previous study, Winchester et al., <sup>44</sup> found that MEDLINE database search limits can inadvertently eliminate an important number of research articles. Additionally, mumps cases in the United States are primarily reported to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and not published as primary literature articles. A thorough literature search of multiple relevant databases (ex. Embase, CINAHL, Google Scholar) and relevant organizational websites (ex. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, World Health Organization, National Foundation for Infectious Diseases, and National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases) is necessary to assemble a large enough dataset from published studies.

The large number of case series reports found on MEDLINE also limited our ability to build a dataset large enough for statistical analysis due to the potential for bias. A case series is a descriptive study that does not test a hypothesis but follows a group of patients who have a similar diagnosis or who are undergoing the same procedure over a certain period <sup>45</sup>. As previously mentioned, cases of mumps are required to be reported to the CDC but the information necessary to estimate transmission dynamics by setting are not required to be reported to the CDC. The primary method for obtaining data needed to estimate the Re value for mumps is the Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR), a weekly publication composed mostly of epidemiological case reports because of the need to quickly disseminate public health information in the event of an outbreak. Since the CDC is considered a primary credible source for mumps data, there is a need for future efforts to improve the quality of case reports published in MMWR. Public health officials can improve case series reports by including a clearly defined research question (inclusive of a study population, intervention, and primary outcome), case definition, and clearly defined methods for data collection with a description of the methodological limitations<sup>46</sup>. The inclusion of these elements will allow investigators to assess the potential more accurately for bias in each report and potentially increase the number of usable studies.

Despite the limited number of publications available, data from MEDLINE on mumps' transmission in the United States allowed us to estimate Re values for multiple outbreaks in university settings and two outbreaks in Kansas stemming from an imported case. While our findings were not significantly different from Re values found in previous studies <sup>47</sup>, they did provide interesting insight for future research. Given the success of the public health response in Downs et al. <sup>22</sup>, it is worth investigating how NPIs can be used in combination with vaccination campaigns to reduce the transmission of mumps in the United States.

NPIs are actions like wearing a face mask and staying away from sick people that people and communities can take apart from getting vaccinated and taking medicine, to help slow the spread of illnesses <sup>48</sup>. NPIs were found to significantly reduce the spread of disease during the 1918 influenza pandemic <sup>48,49</sup> and the COVID-19 pandemic <sup>50</sup>. To the author's knowledge, there is no formal study on the relationship between NPIs and mumps transmission. Given the continued transmission of mumps despite a highly effective vaccine and increased vaccine hesitancy <sup>51,52</sup>, it is worth exploring the impact of NPIs on reducing mumps transmission.

We attempted to utilize a systematic review to quantify the differences in mumps transmission by setting in the United States. However, limitations in the number of useable reports inhibited our ability to do so. Instead, we report the point estimates for six outbreaks. Our results suggest that NPIs may play a role in the differences in mumps transmission, but further analysis is necessary to determine the validity of that claim. Additionally, our work highlights the need for improved reporting of mumps cases in the United States, which heavily influences the number of reliable studies to include in estimates of Re for mumps.

## Conclusions

## Implications for practice

Given the limitations of the evidence, this review cannot draw conclusions about settingsbased differences in mumps transmission in the United States. Our search only yielded reports in university settings. Therefore, we cannot comment on mumps transmission outside of undergraduate students in university settings in the rural Midwest.

Our results suggest a need for strategies to improve the internal validity of observational studies, with a focus on case series reports. Specifically, we find a need for improved reporting of key methodological, clinical, and statistical information concerning confounding factors, as well as more complete reporting of vaccination data at the population level. These improvements will support better estimation of Re in different settings, in part by informing analyses that account for time since vaccination and age at vaccination.

#### Implications for research

Future research could address the following questions raised by this review:

- How does the effective reproduction number change between affected setting types (close-knit communities, mass gatherings, universities, and detention centers) and settings where mumps transmission is less frequent?
- How effective is the current vaccine in close contact settings?
- What practices, including NPIs, are best for reducing transmission for existing highrisk settings?

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Albert Barskey, Mariel Marlow, Sun Sowers, and Stephen Crooke for providing guidance on our queries on the inclusion criteria. We also thank Marcus Collins and Gimin Kim for assisting in the data assembly process. We thank Lance Waller and Nic Vega for providing guidance on the narrative synthesis and risk of bias assessment. We also thank Katia Koelle for providing guidance on estimating and interpreting the effective reproduction values. Lastly, we thank Anice Lowen and Patricia Marsteller for providing valuable feedback throughout the process as committee members.

## References

- Mumps Vaccine Preventable Diseases Surveillance Manual | CDC. https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/surv-manual/chpt09-mumps.html (2021).
- 2. Rubin, S., Eckhaus, M., Rennick, L. J., Bamford, C. G. & Duprex, W. P. Molecular biology, pathogenesis and pathology of mumps virus. J Pathol **235**, 242–252 (2015).
- Edmunds, W. J., Gay, N. J., Kretzschmar, M., Pebody, R. G. & Wachmann, H. The Pre-Vaccination Epidemiology of Measles, Mumps and Rubella in Europe: Implications for Modelling Studies. Epidemiology and Infection 125, 635–650 (2000).
- 4. Henle, G. & Henle, W. Studies on the prevention of mumps. Pediatrics 8, 1-4 (1951).
- Johnson, C. D. & Goodpasture, E. W. An investigation of the etiology of mumps. J Exp Med 59, 1–19 (1934).
- CDC. Mumps | Transmission | CDC. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention https://www.cdc.gov/mumps/about/transmission.html (2021).
- 7. Davison, P. & Morris, J. Mumps. in StatPearls (StatPearls Publishing, 2021).

- 8. CDC. Mumps | For Healthcare Providers | CDC. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention https://www.cdc.gov/mumps/hcp.html (2021).
- Barskey, A. E., Glasser, J. W. & LeBaron, C. W. Mumps resurgences in the United States: A historical perspective on unexpected elements. Vaccine 27, 6186–6195 (2009).
- Fields, V. S. et al. Mumps in a highly vaccinated Marshallese community in Arkansas, USA: an outbreak report. Lancet Infect Dis 19, 185–192 (2019).
- 11. Pike, J. et al. 2016-2017 Arkansas mumps outbreak in a close-knit community: Assessment of the economic impact and response strategies. Vaccine **38**, 1481–1485 (2020).
- Kutty, P. K. et al. Epidemiology and the economic assessment of a mumps outbreak in a highly vaccinated population, Orange County, New York, 2009-2010. Hum Vaccin Immunother 10, 1373–1381 (2014).
- Mumps Outbreak at a University and Recommendation for a Third Dose of Measles-Mumps-Rubella Vaccine — Illinois, 2015–2016 | MMWR.
  - https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/wr/mm6529a2.htm.
- Multistate Mumps Outbreak Originating from Asymptomatic Transmission at a Nebraska Wedding — Six States, August–October 2019 | MMWR. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6922a2.htm.
- Leung, J. Notes from the Field: Mumps in Detention Facilities that House Detained Migrants
   United States, September 2018–August 2019. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 68, (2019).
- Clemmons, N. S. et al. Characteristics of Large Mumps Outbreaks in the United States, July 2010-December 2015. Clin Infect Dis 68, 1684–1690 (2019).
- 17. Lam, E., Rosen, J. B. & Zucker, J. R. Mumps: an Update on Outbreaks, Vaccine Efficacy, and Genomic Diversity. Clin Microbiol Rev **33**, e00151-19 (2020).
- 18. Covidence Better systematic review management. Covidence https://www.covidence.org/.

- 19. Viswanathan, M., Berkman, N. D., Dryden, D. M. & Hartling, L. Approaches to Assessing the Risk of Bias in Studies. Assessing Risk of Bias and Confounding in Observational Studies of Interventions or Exposures: Further Development of the RTI Item Bank [Internet] (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US), 2013).
- 20. critical-appraisal-tools Critical Appraisal Tools | Joanna Briggs Institute. https://jbi.global/critical-appraisal-tools.
- Steele, M. K. et al. Characterizing Norovirus Transmission from Outbreak Data, United States -Volume 26, Number 8—August 2020 - Emerging Infectious Diseases journal - CDC. doi:10.3201/eid2608.191537.
- Downs, J. W. Public Health Response to Imported Mumps Cases-Fort Campbell, Kentucky, 2018. US Army Med Dep J 55–59 (2018).
- Marin, M. et al. Mumps vaccination coverage and vaccine effectiveness in a large outbreak among college students--Iowa, 2006. Vaccine 26, 3601–3607 (2008).
- Efficacy of Mumps Vaccine -- Ohio.
  https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/00000118.htm.
- KIM-FARLEY, R. et al. CLINICAL MUMPS VACCINE EFFICACY. American Journal of Epidemiology 121, 593–597 (1985).
- Cardemil, C. V. et al. Effectiveness of a Third Dose of MMR Vaccine for Mumps Outbreak Control. New England Journal of Medicine 377, 947–956 (2017).
- 27. Shah, M. et al. Mumps Outbreak in a Highly Vaccinated University-Affiliated Setting Before and After a Measles-Mumps-Rubella Vaccination Campaign-Iowa, July 2015-May 2016. Clin Infect Dis 66, 81–88 (2018).

- Bonwitt, J. Notes from the Field: Absence of Asymptomatic Mumps Virus Shedding Among Vaccinated College Students During a Mumps Outbreak — Washington, February–June 2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 66, (2017).
- Mumps Outbreak on a University Campus California, 2011.
  https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6148a2.htm.
- Huang, A. S. et al. Risk factors for mumps at a university with a large mumps outbreak. Public Health Rep 124, 419–426 (2009).
- 31. Wharton, M., Cochi, S. L., Hutcheson, R. H., Bistowish, J. M. & Schaffner, W. A large outbreak of mumps in the postvaccine era. J Infect Dis **158**, 1253–1260 (1988).
- 32. Fischer, P. R., Brunetti, C., Welch, V. & Christenson, J. C. Nosocomial mumps: report of an outbreak and its control. Am J Infect Control **24**, 13–18 (1996).
- 33. Gilroy, S. A. et al. Mumps exposure of a health care provider working in a neonatal intensive care unit leads to a hospital-wide effort that prevented an outbreak. Am J Infect Control 39, 697–700 (2011).
- Bonebrake, A. L. et al. Effects of Mumps Outbreak in Hospital, Chicago, Illinois, USA, 2006 -Volume 16, Number 3—March 2010 - Emerging Infectious Diseases journal - CDC. doi:10.3201/eid1603.090198.
- 35. Greenwood, R. D. Mumps outbreak in a small community. J Kans Med Soc 78, 493 (1972).
- 36. Briss, P. A. et al. Sustained transmission of mumps in a highly vaccinated population: assessment of primary vaccine failure and waning vaccine-induced immunity. J Infect Dis 169, 77–82 (1994).
- 37. Chaiken, B. P., Williams, N. M., Preblud, S. R., Parkin, W. & Altman, R. The effect of a school entry law on mumps activity in a school district. JAMA **257**, 2455–2458 (1987).
- Schaffzin, J. K. et al. Effectiveness of previous mumps vaccination during a summer camp outbreak. Pediatrics 120, e862-868 (2007).
- Maynard, J. E., Shramek, G., Noble, G. R., Deinhardt, F. & Clark, P. Use of attenuated live mumps virus vaccine during a 'virgin soil' epidemic of mumps on St. Paul Island, Alaska. Am J Epidemiol 92, 301–306 (1970).
- Cheek, J. E., Baron, R., Atlas, H., Wilson, D. L. & Crider, R. D. Mumps outbreak in a highly vaccinated school population. Evidence for large-scale vaccination failure. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 149, 774–778 (1995).
- Hersh, B. S. et al. Mumps outbreak in a highly vaccinated population. J Pediatr 119, 187–193 (1991).
- Roddam, A. W. Mathematical Epidemiology of Infectious Diseases: Model Building, Analysis and Interpretation: O Diekmann and JAP Heesterbeek, 2000, Chichester: John Wiley pp. 303, £39.95. ISBN 0-471-49241-8. International Journal of Epidemiology **30**, 186 (2001).
- Analysis of Infectious Disease Data. (Chapman and Hall/CRC, 2019). doi:10.1201/9781315137407.
- Winchester, D. E. & Bavry, A. A. Limitations of the MEDLINE Database in Constructing Meta-analyses. Ann Intern Med 153, 347–348 (2010).
- 45. Carey, T. S. & Boden, S. D. A critical guide to case series reports. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) **28**, 1631–1634 (2003).
- Kooistra, B., Dijkman, B., Einhorn, T. A. & Bhandari, M. How to design a good case series. J Bone Joint Surg Am 91 Suppl 3, 21–26 (2009).
- Lewnard, J. A. & Grad, Y. H. Vaccine waning and mumps re-emergence in the United States. Sci Transl Med 10, eaao 5945 (2018).

- 48. Nonpharmaceutical Interventions (NPIs) | CDC. https://www.cdc.gov/nonpharmaceuticalinterventions/index.html (2020).
- 49. The 1918 Flu Pandemic: Why It Matters 100 Years Later | Blogs | CDC. https://blogs.cdc.gov/publichealthmatters/2018/05/1918-flu/.
- Baker, R. E. et al. The impact of COVID-19 nonpharmaceutical interventions on the future dynamics of endemic infections. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 117, 30547– 30553 (2020).
- 51. Butler, R. & Diseases, V. Vaccine Hesitancy: what it means and what we need to know in order to tackle it. 11.
- Shen, S. (Cindy) & Dubey, V. Addressing vaccine hesitancy. Can Fam Physician 65, 175–181 (2019).

# Chapter IV: Discussion

# Jessica Coates

#### Introduction

Antibiotics and vaccines are considered two of the greatest medical discoveries during the 20<sup>th</sup> century because of the dramatic reduction in deaths associated with infectious diseases (IDs) following their discovery. However, despite the early success of antibiotics and vaccines there has been a continued spread of infectious diseases within the United States. In 2020, three of the top ten leading causes of deaths in the United States were due to infectious diseases <sup>1</sup>. While many efforts are underway to improve the effectiveness of vaccines and to design more potent antibiotics, there is an immediate need to address the public health burden caused by IDs. Without the design of strategies that address immediate public health needs, infectious diseases will continue to impact the economic well-being of the United States<sup>2,3</sup> and the health of the American people. Data-driven approaches that incorporated within and/or between-host reproduction dynamics have been previously used to aid in the eradication of diseases like smallpox<sup>4</sup> and have the potential to reduce the modern-day burden of infectious diseases likes mumps and bacterial infections caused by E. coli. For the purposes of this dissertation, I present data providing insight on within-host infectious disease replication in Chapter 2 by exploring stochastic bacterial population growth dynamics during treatment with bactericidal vs. bacteriostatic antibiotics. I also present data providing insight on between-host infectious dynamics in Chapter 3 by utilizing a systematic literature search to estimate the effective reproduction number for mumps outbreaks in the United States after the 2006

resurgence. In the final chapter of this work, I summarize the major observations of Chapters 2 and 3 and provide recommendations for improving observational data reporting in microbiology and public health to ensure future investigators can accurately estimate the R value of infectious diseases impacting public health.

### Summary of Major Findings

To explore the within-host dynamics of infectious disease reproduction, we utilized a combination of microbiology and biophysics approaches to characterize bacterial population dynamics when E. coli bacteria are exposed to increasing concentrations of bactericidal and bacteriostatic antibiotics. Our experiments yielded unique results compared to previously conducted studies that suggested bacterial population dynamics under antibiotic stress were deterministic <sup>5,6</sup>. Our results, however, suggested that bacterial eradication by bactericidal antibiotics is a stochastic, heterogeneous process. Specifically, we observed that at sub-MIC concentrations, the impact of bactericidal antibiotics on E. coli population dynamics differed from the impact of bacteriostatic antibiotics. Bactericidal antibiotics functioned in a heterogeneous, concentration dependent manner to kill bacterial cells while bacteriostatic antibiotics functioned in a homogenous, concentration independent manner to slow down the growth of bacterial cells. The heterogenous nature of bacterial killing observed under bactericidal stress was not associated with previously acquired resistance traits, which suggested instead that killing was a stochastic process. A simple stochastic model was able to predict stochastic clearance of bacterial populations as antibiotic concentration approached the MIC; this model further suggested that stochastic fluctuations would increase as drug concentration approached the MIC, allowing us to predict stochastic extinction of a large bacterial inoculum at near-MIC concentrations of drug. Further, based on a model-selected growthreduction approach to maximizing stochastic extinction, we used combinations of bactericidal and bacteriostatic antibiotics to promote stochastic population eradication even in genetically drugresistant strains. This work contributes to the field by adding further evidence on the importance of considering population size when evaluating with-in host dynamics of infectious agent replication. By understanding the dynamics of small population sizes, future studies could be potentially developed to revitalize currently available antibiotics and address the current antibiotic public health crisis.

The second part of this thesis focused on between-host dynamics of ID reproduction. Here we used a systematic literature review to estimate the effective reproduction number for Mumps outbreaks in the United States after reaching a high two dose measles, mumps, rubella (MMR) vaccine coverage. Our literature search yielded 5 articles describing 6 outbreaks and 496 cases of Mumps in the United States after 2006. Due to biases in the settings represented and limitations associated with a small dataset, we were unable to estimate the mean effective reproduction number for mumps in the United States, but we were able to calculate point estimates that lead to three major findings: (1) Re values for mumps in the United States range from 0.05 to 1.22. (2) Outbreak responses that utilized non-pharmaceutical interventions were associated with lower transmission, but future studies are needed to validate that claim. (3) There is a need for improvement to data reporting in public health to enable investigators to accurately estimate the effective reproduction value for diseases like mumps, COVID-19, and seasonal influenza that are primarily reported using observational data.

#### Recommendations for future studies

These results highlight the importance of high-quality data in drawing inferences about infectious disease dynamics. Our ability to describe and model antibiotic-associated population dynamics for E. coli in Chapter 2 was largely due to the benefits of utilizing experimental data. By utilizing experimental data, we could control for potential biases that may lead to an over or underestimation of the reproduction metric and accurately measure population-wide and colony-

specific growth rates for E. coli exposed to bactericidal and bacteriostatic antibiotics. However, in Chapter 3, we were unable to estimate the mean Re value for mumps in part because of biases associated with using observational data to draw conclusions.

Most data for infectious disease transmission are from observational studies, for ethical as well as practical reasons, and well-known issues exist for observational data of this kind. Observational data, or data obtained from a study in which investigators obtain outcome measurements solely from observing the population of interest without attempting to influence the outcome, is highly vulnerable to bias because of the inability to control for external factors and therefore is often avoided for drawing conclusions for guiding intervention strategies. However, in the instance of mumps and other infectious diseases - such as COVID-197, seasonal influenza8, and HIV<sup>9</sup> - there is no other option than to utilize observational data to understand the real world effectiveness of prevention methods. Therefore, given the importance of reducing infectious disease spread, it is necessary to improve observational data reporting by establishing a standardized reporting manner that allows investigators and policymakers to accurately assess the potential bias present in the data reported. To allow investigators and policymakers to accurately assess the potential bias present in observational data, future reports of observational data should include full descriptions of the affected population and the setting where disease spread occurred to account for all possible confounding factors that may impact the reliability of R value estimates. The ability to accurately estimate the R value for vaccinated populations relies on precise estimates for the number of susceptible individuals, the intensity of the exposure, and the number of cases. Any future infectious disease observational study reports should include detailed reporting of confounding factors that impact the ability to accurately estimate the number of susceptible individuals, the intensity of exposure, and the number of cases in the affected population. By providing this information in reports, investigators and policymakers can accurately assess the reliability of

outcomes needed to design effective control and prevention strategies possibly leading to the eradication of detrimental infectious diseases.

Despite the limitations in this work, we were able to highlight the importance of understanding within host and between host dynamics to successfully design public health strategies to prevent or control infectious agent replication. This phenomenon isn't unique to work focused on bacteria and mumps but is also relevant to other diseases that cause a major impact on human health and public health, including malaria<sup>10</sup> and influenza<sup>11</sup>. As the field progresses, there is a need to not only understand these dynamics better but to understand the link connecting within host dynamics and between host dynamics of infectious agent replication. Previous studies have attempted to use sophisticated quantitative models to establish the link between within host dynamics<sup>12</sup>. This work could potentially provide insight into how to reform studies dedicated to quantitatively linking the two different levels of transmission by showcasing the importance of considering stochasticity for within host dynamics and intervention mediated methods for increasing susceptibility rather than relying on traditional deterministic approaches and focusing on vaccine campaigns to control outbreaks.

The goal of the studies described in this dissertation was to utilize statistical approaches to understand within and between host dynamics in the transmission of infectious diseases. These studies provide novel insight into the nature of bacterial replication under antibiotic stress and mumps transmission in highly vaccinated populations. Through this work, we demonstrated the stochastic nature of bacterial replication under antibiotic stress and the importance of considering small populations in infection dynamics. Additionally, this work highlights the importance of understanding the impact of vaccine-mediated versus intervention-based heterogeneity in susceptibility to mumps and transmission in population with a high two dose vaccine coverage.

115

Results from these studies lay the foundation for future research on between and within host dynamics of infectious disease transmission and provides insight for the design of future public health control and prevention strategies.

## References

- Products Data Briefs Number 427 December 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db427.htm (2021) doi:10.15620/cdc:112079.
- 2. Armitage, C. The high burden of infectious disease. Nature 598, S9–S9 (2021).
- 3. Smith, K. M., Machalaba, C. C., Seifman, R., Feferholtz, Y. & Karesh, W. B. Infectious disease and economics: The case for considering multi-sectoral impacts. One Health **7**, 100080 (2019).
- Dietz, K. & Heesterbeek, J. a. P. Bernoulli was ahead of modern epidemiology. Nature 408, 513–514 (2000).
- Czock, D., Markert, C., Hartman, B. & Keller, F. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of antimicrobial drugs. Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology 5, 475–487 (2009).
- Regoes, R. R. et al. Pharmacodynamic Functions: a Multiparameter Approach to the Design of Antibiotic Treatment Regimens. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 48, 3670–3676 (2004).
- Tenforde, M. W., Fisher, K. A. & Patel, M. M. Identifying COVID-19 Risk Through Observational Studies to Inform Control Measures. JAMA 325, 1464–1465 (2021).
- Basile, L. et al. Seasonal influenza surveillance: Observational study on the 2017–2018 season with predominant B influenza virus circulation. Vacunas (English Edition) 20, 53–59 (2019).
- Ford, N. et al. The contribution of observational studies in supporting the WHO 'treat all' recommendation for HIV/AIDS. J Virus Erad 4, 5–8.

- Gutierrez, J. B., Galinski, M. R., Cantrell, S. & Voit, E. O. From Within Host Dynamics to the Epidemiology of Infectious Disease: Scientific Overview and Challenges. Math Biosci 270, 143– 155 (2015).
- Steinmeyer, S. H., Wilke, C. O. & Pepin, K. M. Methods of modelling viral disease dynamics across the within- and between-host scales: the impact of virus dose on host population immunity. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 365, 1931–1941 (2010).
- 12. Mideo, N., Alizon, S. & Day, T. Linking within- and between-host dynamics in the evolutionary epidemiology of infectious diseases. Trends Ecol Evol **23**, 511–517 (2008).